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0001
 1   
 2        IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
 3               DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
 4             Civ. No. 04-3749 (JAP)
 5             (Consolidated Cases)
 6             Hon. Joel A. Pisano
 7   -----------------------------------x
 8   IN RE ROYAL DUTCH/SHELL TRANSPORT
 9   SECURITIES LITIGATION
10   -----------------------------------x
11   
12   
13                     January 11, 2007
14   
15                     10:02 a.m.
16   
17         Videotaped deposition of SHEILA M.
18   GRAHAM, taken by the Lead Plaintiff and
19   the Class, at the offices of LeBoeuf,
20   Lamb, Greene & MacRae LLP, 1 Minster
21   Court, London, England, before Gail F.
22   Schorr, a Certified Shorthand Reporter,
23   Certified Realtime Reporter and Notary
24   Public within and for the State of New
25   York.
0002
 1   
 2   A P P E A R A N C E S:
 3   BERNSTEIN LIEBHARD & LIFSHITZ, LLP
     Attorneys for the Lead Plaintiff and the
 4   Class
           10 East 40th Street
 5         New York, New York 10016
 6   BY:   MARK T. MILLKEY, ESQ.
           CAROLINE MARSHALL, ESQ.
 7              -and-
           AMY L. ABATE, ESQ.
 8   
 9   
          EARL D. WEED, ESQ.
10        Senior Legal Counsel
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          Shell Oil, Inc.
11        910 Louisiana - 48th Floor
          Houston, Texas 77002
12   
13   
     DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON, LLP
14   Attorneys for Royal Dutch/Shell
           555 13th Street, Northwest
15         Washington, D.C. 20004
16   BY:   COLBY SMITH, ESQ.
               -and-
17         CHARLES M. GOLDSCHMID, ESQ.
18   
19   HUGHES, HUBBARD & REED, LLP
     Attorneys for Pricewaterhousecoopers LLP
20         One Battery Park Plaza
           New York, New York 10004-1482
21   
     BY:   SAVVAS A. FOUKAS, ESQ.
22   
23   
24   
25   
0003
 1   
 2   A P P E A R A N C E S (Continued):
 3   HOGAN & HARTSON, LLP
     Attorneys for KPMG Accountants N.V.
 4         875 Third Avenue
           New York, New York 10022
 5   
     BY:   NICHOLAS W. C. CORSON, ESQ.
 6   
 7   
     FOLEY & LARDNER, LLP
 8   Attorneys for Judith Boynton
           777 East Wisconsin Avenue
 9         Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-5306
10   BY:   NANCY J. SENNETT, ESQ.
11   
12   MAYER, BROWN, ROWE & MAW, LLP
     Attorneys for Sir Philip Watts
13         1909 K Street, Northwest
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           Washington, D.C. 20006-1101
14   
     BY:   AIMEE D. LATIMER, ESQ.
15   
16   ALSO PRESENT:
17   CHRISTINE MARTINEZ, Legal Assistant
     Bernstein Liebhard & Lifshitz, LLP
18   
     PHILLIP HILL, Video Operator
19   Action Legal Video, Inc.
20   
21   
22   
23   
24   
25   
0004
 1   
 2                 THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  This is
 3     the beginning of tape 1, volume 1.  This
 4     is the video operator speaking, 
 5     Mr. Phillip Hill of Merrill Corp. London.
 6     Today is January 11, 2007, and the time
 7     is 10:02 a.m. London time.  We are at the
 8     offices of LeBoeuf, Lamb, Greene & MacRae
 9     in London to take the video deposition of
10     Sheila Graham.  This is in re Royal
11     Dutch/Shell Transport Securities
12     Litigation.  This is being heard in the
13     United States District Court, District of
14     New Jersey, case number Civ. 04-3749
15     (JAP).
16                Will counsels present please
17     introduce themselves for the record.
18                MR. MILLKEY:  Mark Millkey,
19     Bernstein Liebhard & Lifshitz, for lead
20     plaintiff, Peter M. Wood and the class.
21                MS. ABATE:  Amy Abate of
22     Bernstein Liebhard & Lifshitz, on
23     behalf of Peter M. Wood and the class.
24                MS. MARSHALL:  Caroline
25     Marshall, Bernstein Liebhard &
0005
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 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Lifshitz, on behalf of lead plaintiff,
 3     Peter M. Wood and the class.
 4                MR. GOLDSCHMID:  Charlie
 5     Goldschmid, Debevoise & Plimpton, on
 6     behalf of the defendant Royal Dutch
 7     Petroleum and Shell Transport & Trading
 8     Company.
 9                MR. WEED:  Earl Weed,
10     in-house Shell.
11                MR. SMITH:  Colby Smith,
12     Debevoise & Plimpton LLP, on behalf of
13     the corporate defendants Royal Dutch
14     Petroleum and Shell Transport &
15     Trading, and for the witness.
16                MR. CORSON:  Nicholas
17     Corson, Hogan & Hartson, on behalf of
18     KPMG Accountants NV.
19                MS. LATIMER:  Aimee Latimer,
20     Mayer Brown Rowe & Maw, on behalf of
21     defendant Sir Philip Watts.
22                MR. FOUKAS:  Savvas Foukas,
23     Hughes Hubbard & Reed, on behalf of
24     PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
25                MR. SENNETT:  Nancy Sennett
0006
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     of Foley & Lardner LLP, on behalf of
 3     the defendant Judith Boynton.
 4                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Will
 5     the court reporter, Gail Schorr of
 6     Merrill Corp. New York, please swear in
 7     the witness.
 8     S H E I L A   M.   G R A H A M,
 9     residing at 521 North Deeside Road,
10     Aberdeen, Scotland, having been first
11     duly sworn by the Notary Public (Gail
12     F. Schorr), was examined and testified
13     as follows:
14                MR. MILLKEY:  Before we
15     begin, I'd just like to note for the
16     record that this voluntary deposition
17     is being conducted in London, the
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18     United Kingdom, upon consent of all
19     parties, pursuant to Federal Rule of
20     Civil Procedure 29.  Pursuant to that
21     agreement, the deposition shall be
22     conducted in accordance with the
23     Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and
24     all applicable rules and orders of the
25     United States District Court for the
0007
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     District of New Jersey.
 3                 EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLKEY:
 4          Q.    Good morning.
 5          A.    Good morning.
 6          Q.    I know you've had your
 7     deposition taken at least once by the
 8     SEC.  Have you had any other depositions?
 9          A.    No.
10          Q.    The groundrules today will
11     be the same as the groundrules during
12     the deposition with the SEC.  I will
13     ask you questions that I hope will be
14     clear.  If you don't understand them,
15     please ask me to rephrase them and I'm
16     happy to do that.  Answer in words for
17     the benefit of the court reporter, and
18     we should both try not to talk over
19     each other.
20                If you need a break at any
21     time let me know and I will certainly
22     try to accommodate you.
23                Today when I refer to Shell
24     I'm going to be using that term in its
25     broadest possible sense to refer to
0008
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Royal Dutch, Shell Transport and the
 3     operating companies and service
 4     companies in which they hold an
 5     interest.
 6                Could you just please state
 7     your name and address.
 8          A.    Sheila Graham, 521 North
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 9     Deeside Road, Aberdeen, Scotland.
10          Q.    Can you please describe your
11     educational background beginning with
12     university?
13          A.    I have a Bachelor's degree in
14     electrical engineering from Edinburgh
15     University, and I joined Shell straight
16     from university.
17          Q.    What year did you graduate?
18          A.    1989.
19          Q.    Do you hold any professional
20     licenses?
21          A.    No.
22          Q.    Do you belong to any
23     professional organizations?
24          A.    No.
25          Q.    Are you currently employed?
0009
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    By Shell.
 3          Q.    What is your position?
 4          A.    I'm the commercial manager
 5     for North Sea.
 6          Q.    Where are you located?
 7          A.    In Aberdeen.
 8          Q.    What do you do as commercial
 9     manager for the North Sea?
10          A.    I manage Shell's contracts
11     and their commercial operations for
12     their offshore installations in the
13     North Sea.
14          Q.    In that position do you have
15     any responsibility for the reporting of
16     reserves?
17          A.    No.
18          Q.    If you could briefly go over
19     your employment history beginning in
20     1989 after you graduated.
21          A.    I joined Shell in 1990 and I
22     initially worked as what's called a
23     well site petroleum engineer offshore.
24     I then moved from offshore into the
25     offices and worked as a petrophysicist.
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0010
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Where was that?
 3          A.    In Gronigen, which is in the
 4     north of Holland.
 5          Q.    And were both of those
 6     positions at the same place?
 7          A.    Yes.
 8          Q.    And how long -- how long
 9     were you in that position?
10          A.    It would have been four
11     years, so till roughly the end of 1993.
12          Q.    What does a petrophysicist
13     do?
14          A.    It interprets wire line
15     logs.  When you drill wells you take
16     wire line logs and you can interpret to
17     tell them the amount of hydrocarbons
18     which are in a reservoir.
19          Q.    Had you had any training for
20     that position?
21          A.    Yes.
22          Q.    What was your training?
23          A.    I initially had a three
24     month training period, residential
25     period, training period in The Hague,
0011
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     and then subsequent to that probably
 3     every year I had two or three weeks of
 4     training as well as on-the-job
 5     training.
 6          Q.    Did you change positions at
 7     the end of 1993?
 8          A.    Yes.  I moved to The Hague.
 9          Q.    What was your position then?
10          A.    I worked as a consultant
11     petrophysicist working for Shell
12     operating units that were without
13     petrophysicist -- petrophysical
14     employees.
15          Q.    And so you consulted with
16     various operating units?
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17          A.    Yes.
18          Q.    And what operating units did
19     you consult with?
20          A.    Shell Gabon, Shell China,
21     Shell the Philippines, and Shell Viet
22     Nam.
23          Q.    In your work with any of
24     those operating units, did you have any
25     responsibility with respect to the
0012
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     calculation or reporting of proved
 3     reserves?
 4          A.    No.
 5          Q.    How long were you in that
 6     position?
 7          A.    I moved to Australia in 19
 8     -- the beginning of 1998.
 9          Q.    Where were you located in
10     Australia?
11          A.    Initially I was located in
12     Melbourne and then I moved to Perth.
13          Q.    What was your initial
14     position there when you began?
15          A.    My initial position was as a
16     petrophysicist.
17          Q.    How long were you a
18     petrophysicist in Australia?
19          A.    About a year and a half.
20          Q.    During that year and a half
21     did you have any responsibility for the
22     calculation or reporting of proved
23     reserves?
24          A.    No.
25          Q.    So roughly at some point in
0013
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     1999 your job changed?
 3          A.    Yes.
 4          Q.    When in 1999?
 5          A.    I don't remember exactly
 6     when, but it was probably about midyear
 7     of 1999.
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 8          Q.    And what was your position
 9     at that time?
10          A.    I moved into planning and
11     economics role with also responsibility
12     for ARPR reporting.
13          Q.    How long did you hold those
14     roles?
15          A.    The planning and economics
16     roles I held until I went on maternity
17     leave in 2000 -- the end of 2001, the
18     beginning of 2002.  The reserves
19     reporting role I held until mid-2001.
20          Q.    After you left those
21     positions, after your maternity leave,
22     did you join Shell in the position you
23     have now or was there something in
24     between?
25          A.    I joined gas and power.  So
0014
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     it's a different position.
 3          Q.    Just so I get the full range
 4     of your employment history, what were
 5     you doing at that time?
 6          A.    I was working in LNG,
 7     liquefied natural gas trading.
 8          Q.    When you became -- is it
 9     fair to say you are an economist and a
10     reserves coordinator for --
11          A.    Yes.
12          Q.    What's the name of the
13     operating unit you were working for in
14     Australia?
15          A.    Shell Development Australia.
16          Q.    I may refer to them today as
17     SDA.  When you took on those new roles,
18     was that roughly at the same time you
19     moved to Perth?
20          A.    About three or four months
21     after I moved to Perth.
22          Q.    So economist and reserves
23     coordinator, is that two jobs or one?
24          A.    It's two jobs.
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25          Q.    What were your
0015
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     responsibilities as an economist?
 3          A.    My responsibilities were to
 4     basically undertake the economic
 5     analysis of the projects that Shell
 6     were undertaking to see their
 7     feasibility, commercial feasibility.
 8          Q.    Had you had any training to
 9     undertake those responsibilities?
10          A.    No.
11          Q.    Were you in effect learning
12     on the job?
13          A.    Yes.
14          Q.    Were you the only economist
15     that worked for SDA?
16          A.    No, there were probably
17     about five economists.
18          Q.    I take it you had different
19     responsibilities from the others?
20          A.    Yes.
21          Q.    What were your
22     responsibilities in particular?
23          A.    Initially my
24     responsibilities were for the Gorgon,
25     greater Gorgon area, and later on my
0016
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     responsibilities moved to Northwest
 3     Shelf.
 4          Q.    When your responsibilities
 5     moved to the Northwest Shelf, were you
 6     also responsible for Gorgon or only the
 7     Northwest Shelf?
 8          A.    No, only the Northwest
 9     Shelf.
10          Q.    And when did that change
11     occur?
12          A.    I can't remember.
13          Q.    What were your
14     responsibilities as reserves coordinator
15     for SDA?
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16          A.    The responsibilities as
17     reserves coordinator was to compile the
18     ARPR on an annual basis.
19          Q.    Had you had any training for
20     that role?
21          A.    No.
22          Q.    So again you were learning
23     on the job?
24          A.    Yes.
25          Q.    Were you the only reserves
0017
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     coordinator employed by SDA at that
 3     time?
 4          A.    Yes.
 5          Q.    Do you know whether reserves
 6     coordinators at Shell are typically
 7     economists as well?
 8          A.    Typically they are petroleum
 9     engineers.
10          Q.    Were your positions as
11     economist and reserves coordinator
12     related, would you say?
13          A.    No.
14          Q.    Do you know who preceded you
15     as reserves coordinator at SDA?
16          A.    Helge Hammer.
17          Q.    Do you know how long he held
18     that position?
19          A.    No.
20          Q.    Do you know what Mr. Hammer
21     did after he left the position of
22     reserves coordinator?
23          A.    He moved in to become a
24     reservoir engineer in Woodside.
25          Q.    What is Woodside?
0018
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    Woodside is a listed oil and
 3     gas company in Australia.
 4          Q.    So he was still located in
 5     Australia after he left that --
 6          A.    Yes.
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 7          Q.    -- the position of reserves
 8     coordinator?
 9                MR. SMITH:  Let him finish
10     his questions before you answer.
11                THE WITNESS:  Sorry.
12          Q.    Do you know physically where
13     he was located in Australia after he
14     left that position, after he left
15     Shell?
16          A.    He didn't leave Shell.  He
17     was a Shell secondee into Woodside.
18          Q.    Do you know where he was
19     located in Australia when he was with
20     Woodside?
21          A.    In Perth.
22          Q.    Were you physically located
23     in the same building?
24          A.    No, in different -- in
25     separate buildings.
0019
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    When you became the reserves
 3     coordinator was there any transition
 4     period in which you worked with Mr.
 5     Hammer?
 6          A.    Not really.  I went over the
 7     electronic files of the worksheets, and
 8     that's all that we did as a handover.
 9          Q.    Do you know who preceded Mr.
10     Hammer as reserves coordinator for SDA?
11          A.    I believe it was Leigh
12     Yaxley.
13          Q.    Did you report to different
14     people in your role as economist and
15     reserves coordinator?
16          A.    Yes.
17          Q.    Who did you report to in
18     your role as an economist?
19          A.    Wim Maarse was my immediate
20     line manager.
21          Q.    What was his name again?
22          A.    Wim Maarse.
23          Q.    Maarse.  What was his title?
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24          A.    It would have been planning
25     manager.
0020
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Who was your -- who did you
 3     report to as reserves coordinator?
 4          A.    Initially Robert Blaauw, and
 5     then Jeroen Regtien.
 6          Q.    Did Mr. Regtien replace Mr.
 7     Blaauw -- did Mr. Blaauw change jobs?
 8          A.    No, Jeroen came in between
 9     myself and Robert Blaauw as an interim
10     manager.
11          Q.    Do you know when Mr.
12     Regtien, when you began to report to
13     Mr. Regtien?
14          A.    No.
15          Q.    What was Mr. Regtien's
16     title, if you recall?
17          A.    I don't recall.
18          Q.    Do you recall Mr. Blaauw's
19     title?
20          A.    No.
21          Q.    Did anyone report to you?
22          A.    No.
23                MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, just
24     so we're clear, in both positions or
25     just the reserve coordinator position
0021
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     for that question?
 3          Q.    In both positions?
 4          A.    In neither.
 5          Q.    When you arrived, do you
 6     know approximately how many employees
 7     Shell Development Australia had?
 8          A.    No.
 9          Q.    Who was the head of SDA in
10     1999?
11          A.    A. Parsley, Alan Parsley.
12          Q.    Parsley.  Now, did SDA have
13     any technical personnel when you began
14     in 1999?
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15                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
16     form.
17          Q.    For example -- well, did SDA
18     do any technical work as far as you're
19     aware, or did it rely on other entities
20     for technical work?
21                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
22     form.
23          A.    I don't understand the
24     question.  Are you asking when I
25     started with SDA or when I started as
0022
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     reserves coordinator?
 3          Q.    When you started as reserves
 4     coordinator.
 5          A.    When I started as reserves
 6     coordinator there were no technical
 7     staff in SDA.
 8          Q.    Had there previously been
 9     technical staff?
10          A.    Yes.
11          Q.    I take it there had been
12     some sort of organizational change
13     within S -- well, strike that.
14                Do you know why there was no
15     longer any technical staff at SDA when
16     you began as reserves coordinator?
17          A.    When the office moved from
18     Melbourne to Perth it was due to an
19     alliance with Woodside, and the
20     technical staff, the local technical
21     staff became Woodside employees and the
22     international technical staff became
23     Shell secondees into Woodside.
24          Q.    Do you know if at or about
25     that time there had been a reduction in
0023
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     SDA's funding for exploration?
 3          A.    No, I don't know.
 4          Q.    You're familiar with the
 5     term the center as used in Shell?
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 6          A.    Yes.
 7          Q.    What is the center?
 8          A.    The center is considered the
 9     -- either The Hague or London, depending
10     in which part of the company you're
11     working in, and it's the governance part
12     of Shell.
13          Q.    In your role as an economist
14     at SDA, did you have occasion to work
15     with, on a regular basis with anyone
16     from the center?
17          A.    Yes, Rob Jager.
18          Q.    What was Mr. Jager's title,
19     if you recall?
20          A.    He was the regional business
21     advisor.
22          Q.    Was there anyone else you
23     worked with on a regular basis as
24     economist?
25          A.    From the center?
0024
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    From the center, right.
 3          A.    There was the equivalent of
 4     Rob Jager in gas and power.
 5          Q.    Do you recall that person's
 6     name?
 7          A.    Paul den Reijer.
 8          Q.    Now, in your role as
 9     coordinator, reserves coordinator, was
10     there anyone you worked with on a
11     regular basis from the center?
12          A.    Not on a regular basis, but
13     from time to time I would call Remco
14     Aalbers.
15          Q.    What was Mr. Aalbers'
16     position at Shell at that time?
17          A.    I don't recall the actual
18     name of his title, but he was a
19     reserves coordinator of some
20     description.
21          Q.    Was he the reserves
22     coordinator for the group?
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23          A.    Yes.
24          Q.    Earlier you mentioned
25     something called the ARPR.  What is
0025
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     that?
 3          A.    The annual review of
 4     petroleum resources.
 5          Q.    And what is that?
 6          A.    That's Shell's annual
 7     submission of the status of its
 8     reserves.
 9          Q.    Why did Shell conduct the
10     ARPR, if you know?
11          A.    I don't know.
12          Q.    Did you under -- did the
13     ARPR process culminate in an external
14     reporting of reserves, if you know?
15                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
16     form.
17          A.    Are you asking was I
18     involved in external reporting?
19          Q.    I'm asking if Shell reported
20     proved reserves numbers externally?
21          A.    Yes, they did.
22          Q.    Was that one of the reasons
23     the ARPR was conducted?
24          A.    At the time I was involved
25     in it it -- my involvement was purely a
0026
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     submission to the center of Australia's
 3     position.  What the center did with
 4     that I wasn't involved with.
 5          Q.    In 1999 did you have an
 6     understanding of the term proved
 7     reserves?
 8          A.    Yes.
 9          Q.    What was your understanding?
10          A.    Reserves that are in place
11     or could be produced with reasonable
12     certainty.
13          Q.    What was the basis for your
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14     understanding of that term?
15          A.    In the Shell guidelines, it
16     indicated that in a technical basis it
17     was reserves that had an 85 percent
18     chance of being there, and overlain on
19     that was both economic and commercial
20     rationale.
21          Q.    So there was a technical
22     requirement and a commercial
23     requirement?
24          A.    And an economic requirement.
25          Q.    What was the difference
0027
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     between the economic requirement and
 3     the commercial requirement?
 4          A.    The economic requirement
 5     only took into account if the field was
 6     -- would be economic, and assumed that
 7     the gas or the oil had a market.  So an
 8     assumption was made on the market and
 9     then the fields have to be profitable.
10                The commercial requirement
11     was that there was a market for the oil
12     or for the gas.
13          Q.    You referred to guidelines.
14     What were those?
15          A.    The Shell published annual
16     guidelines on -- on how to complete the
17     ARPR submission.
18          Q.    Are you familiar with SEC
19     Rule 4-10?  Have you ever heard of that
20     rule?
21          A.    No.
22          Q.    Are you aware of any rule
23     issued by the US Securities and
24     Exchange Commission relating to proved
25     reserves?
0028
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    I don't recall exact
 3     details, but I believe in the Shell
 4     reporting guidelines there was a list
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 5     of SEC wording and then there was an
 6     explanation as to how to adhere to
 7     these guidelines.
 8          Q.    Now, in the Shell
 9     guidelines, was there a difference
10     between proved developed reserves and
11     proved undeveloped reserves?
12          A.    Yes.
13          Q.    What did you understand --
14     in 1999 what did you understand the
15     difference to be?
16          A.    Proved developed reserves
17     are those that could be sold with the
18     existing infrastructure, whereas
19     undeveloped would require capital
20     expenditure in order to produce them.
21          Q.    Now, did the Shell
22     guidelines in 1999 have different
23     requirements for the booking of proved
24     undeveloped oil reserves and proved
25     undeveloped gas reserves?
0029
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    I don't believe so.  I
 3     believe that they both had to have
 4     reasonable certainty of a market.
 5          Q.    Were there any other written
 6     sources that you consulted when you
 7     were undertaking your work as part of
 8     the ARPR process?
 9          A.    No.
10          Q.    When was the first time you
11     read the Shell guidelines?
12          A.    Probably autumn of 1999.
13          Q.    Did Shell provide you with
14     any training in the guidelines?
15          A.    No.
16                MR. MILLKEY:  Can you mark
17     that as number 1.
18                     (Graham Exhibit 1 for
19     identification, Bates stamped RJW
20     00121875 through RJW 00121906.)
21          Q.    Ms. Graham, we're going to
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22     be showing you certain documents today.
23     This is the first one.  It's Graham
24     Exhibit number 1.  It's a rather large
25     document, and I'm going to ask you
0030
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     questions about particular passages in
 3     it.  At this time spend as much time as
 4     you would like looking at it but all
 5     I'm asking,  would like you to do right
 6     now is just to see if you can identify
 7     the document and then I'll direct your
 8     attention to particular pages.
 9                Graham Exhibit number 1 has
10     the title "Petroleum Resource Volume
11     Guidelines 1999."  Ms. Graham, so you
12     know, the document has numbers at the
13     bottom which have been added for
14     purposes of the litigation and I may
15     refer to those today as Bates numbers.
16     The Bates numbers on this document are
17     RJW 00121875 through RJW 00121906.
18                Do you recognize this
19     document?
20          A.    Yes.
21          Q.    And what is it?
22          A.    It is the guidelines sent
23     out from the center for ARPR
24     submissions.
25          Q.    Was this the document you
0031
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     used in conducting your ARPR work in
 3     the latter part of 1999?
 4          A.    Yes.
 5                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 6     form.
 7          Q.    I'd just like to direct your
 8     attention to, it's Page 5 of the
 9     guidelines, the Bates range number is
10     121884.
11          A.    Sorry, can you repeat that
12     again.
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13          Q.    If you're looking at the
14     page numbers at the top it's Page 5.
15     Do you see the chart about a quarter of
16     the way down the page?
17          A.    Yes.
18          Q.    It has the title "Cumulative
19     production."  Can you just describe for
20     me what this chart represents?
21          A.    The table?
22          Q.    The table at the top, right.
23          A.    Yes.  It represents the
24     different classes of reserves.
25          Q.    Now, the various classes
0032
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     that are listed here, are they listed
 3     on a continuum with developed reserves
 4     at one end of the spectrum and
 5     discovered initial in place on the
 6     other end of the spectrum, is that an
 7     accurate statement or not?
 8          A.    They reflect the maturity of a
 9     project ranging from initial discovery to
10     production.
11          Q.    Now, within the third box
12     down on the chart which says discovered
13     scope for recovery there are three
14     items listed there.  The first item is
15     commercial scope for recovery by proved
16     techniques.  The second is commercial
17     scope for recovery by unproved
18     techniques.  And the third is
19     noncommercial scope for recovery.  Do
20     those three items reflect different
21     levels of maturity?
22                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
23     form.
24          A.    No.  I can't remember what
25     commercial scope for recovery by
0033
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     unproved techniques represents.
 3     Commercial scope for recovery by proved
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 4     techniques and noncommercial scope for
 5     recovery, the only difference between
 6     these two is one is economic and the
 7     other is not.
 8          Q.    Noncommercial being
 9     noneconomic?
10          A.    Yes.
11          Q.    In that sense is it less
12     mature than the first category, or is
13     that an inaccurate statement?
14                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
15     form; asked and answered.
16          A.    It depends on your
17     definition of mature, so I don't
18     understand what you mean by mature.
19          Q.    Okay, that's fine.  That's
20     fine.  This is a document we may be
21     consulting from time to time today, but
22     that's enough for right now.
23                Does the ARPR process start
24     at a particular time of the year at
25     Shell?
0034
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    The actual submission has a
 3     particular date in January, and it is
 4     up to the individual coordinator when
 5     they would wish to start preparing
 6     their work for that submission.
 7          Q.    When did you start your work
 8     for the submission -- when in 1999 did
 9     you start your work for the January
10     2000 submission?
11          A.    When I took over from Helge
12     Hammer I started -- I started then
13     reading up on the guidelines and
14     looking for basic data.
15          Q.    If you could just describe
16     for me in general the work you
17     undertook in 1999 as part of the ARPR
18     process just so I get a general
19     understanding of the process.
20          A.    I would collate the
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21     technical data that was required, so
22     the actual reserves numbers.  They
23     would be collated from SDA's operators
24     of the fields who would be Woodside and
25     WAPET.  And once I had collected the
0035
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     data I would apply an economic and
 3     commercial overlay and then prepare the
 4     submission.
 5          Q.    Did the ARPR process
 6     culminate in your suggestion -- your
 7     submission of particular proved reserve
 8     numbers, or recommendations?
 9          A.    The ARPR submission was a
10     spreadsheet, an Excel spreadsheet that
11     would have all the reserves numbers in
12     it.
13          Q.    When you say all the
14     reserves numbers, did you have separate
15     numbers for separate fields?
16          A.    No.  They would have been
17     rolled up into one submission for
18     proved reserves or one submission for
19     exploration.
20          Q.    For how many fields were you
21     doing this ARPR work?
22          A.    All the fields in the SDA
23     portfolio.
24          Q.    And approximately how many
25     fields would that be?
0036
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    I have no idea.
 3          Q.    To whom -- when you made the
 4     ultimate ARPR submission, to whom did
 5     you make that submission?
 6          A.    To Remco Aalbers.
 7          Q.    Do you know whether the ARPR
 8     numbers that you submitted to Mr.
 9     Aalbers were the same numbers that were
10     later incorporated in Shell's reporting
11     to the SEC?
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12          A.    No.
13                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
14     form.
15          Q.    You don't know?
16          A.    I don't know.
17          Q.    I take it you did the actual
18     calculation of the proved reserve
19     numbers for the ARPR submission?
20          A.    The calculation of the
21     numbers for the ARPR submission came
22     from the operators of the fields.  So
23     the technical numbers came from
24     Woodside and from WAPET.
25          Q.    So you did no technical work
0037
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     with the numbers themselves?
 3          A.    No.
 4                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 5     form.
 6          Q.    Were you the individual with
 7     the final say over the numbers that
 8     were reported as part of the ARPR
 9     submission, or were there others who
10     had to give their approval?
11                MR. SMITH:  Within SDA?
12          Q.    Within SDA.
13          A.    The ARPR submission had to
14     be signed off by senior management and
15     Robert Blaauw had -- was the signatory.
16          Q.    In your experience, did Mr.
17     Blaauw change the numbers that were
18     submitted in January of 2000 or did he
19     just sign off, if you know?
20          A.    Robert signed.
21          Q.    Okay.  Now you mentioned
22     that the technical work was done by
23     WAPET and Woodside; is that correct?
24     What is WAPET?
25          A.    WAPET was a company set up
0038
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     to manage the Gorgon field and the
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 3     exploration acreage surrounding that.
 4          Q.    Do you know if any Shell
 5     entities within the United States ever
 6     did any technical work for Shell
 7     Development Australia?
 8          A.    No.
 9          Q.    Have you ever heard of Shell
10     Deepwater Services?
11          A.    I've heard of Shell
12     Deepwater Services, yes.
13          Q.    Do you know whether Shell
14     Deepwater Services ever rendered any
15     technical assistance to SDA?
16          A.    I don't know.
17          Q.    Have you ever heard of an
18     organization within Shell called
19     SEPTAR?
20          A.    I believe so.
21          Q.    Do you know whether SEPTAR
22     ever rendered any technical assistance
23     to Shell Development Australia?
24          A.    I don't know.
25          Q.    You look like you might have
0039
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     hesitated for a moment.  Was there a
 3     reason?
 4                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 5     form.
 6          Q.    I mean have you ever heard
 7     that SEPTAR rendered services to SDA?
 8          A.    No.  I don't actually know
 9     what SEPTAR is, so that's why I
10     couldn't answer the question.
11          Q.    All right.  Okay.  So I just
12     want to be sure I'm clear on one point.
13     When you submitted AR -- when you make
14     your ARPR submission, there were no
15     separate numbers listed for the
16     particular fields in SDA, there were
17     only sum -- sum totals --
18                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
19     form.
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20          Q.    -- for approval?
21          A.    Are you asking me if the
22     ARPR submission is rolled up?
23          Q.    Is it only rolled up or does
24     it break down the proved reserve
25     numbers by field within SDA?
0040
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    It's only --
 3                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 4     form.
 5          A.    It's only rolled up.
 6                MR. SMITH:  May I make a
 7     comment?
 8                MR. MILLKEY:  Pardon me?
 9                MR. SMITH:  May I make a
10     comment?
11                MR. MILLKEY:  Yes.
12                MR. SMITH:  I think you two
13     are using the word field in a different
14     way.  It would just be nice if the
15     record were clear about that.
16          Q.    How are you using the word
17     field?
18          A.    I'm using the word field as
19     an individual accumulation of
20     hydrocarbons.
21          Q.    Well, for example, we'll
22     take Gorgon as an example, in the ARPR
23     submission that was made in or about
24     January of 2000, were there distinct
25     proved reserve numbers listed for the
0041
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Gorgon field, or for Gorgon?
 3          A.    No.
 4          Q.    What is Gorgon?
 5          A.    Gorgon is a gas field.
 6          Q.    Is it a single field or more
 7     than one field?
 8          A.    As far as I know it's one
 9     field.
10          Q.    Have you heard of a field
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11     called Spar?
12          A.    Yes.
13          Q.    But that's separate and
14     apart from Gorgon?
15          A.    Yes.
16          Q.    Do you know how,
17     approximately how large Gorgon was in
18     terms of natural gas that it had?
19                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
20     form.
21          A.    At the time I would have
22     known, but now I don't.
23          Q.    Was Gorgon considered to be
24     a large field?
25          A.    Yes, within the SDA
0042
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     portfolio it was a large field.
 3          Q.    Are you aware of any other
 4     fields in the group portfolio that were
 5     larger than Gorgon?
 6          A.    At the time I was only aware
 7     of Gorgon in comparison with other
 8     fields within Australia.
 9          Q.    Was Gorgon the largest field
10     in SDA's portfolio?
11          A.    It was the largest field,
12     single field.  However, the grouping of
13     the Northwest Shelf fields was larger.
14          Q.    Where was Gorgon located?
15          A.    Northwest offshore
16     Australia.
17          Q.    That's in the Indian Ocean?
18          A.    I presume so.
19          Q.    Okay.
20          A.    Geography not being my...
21          Q.    Did Shell have an interest
22     in Gorgon in 1999?
23          A.    Yes.
24          Q.    Can you describe the
25     interest it had?
0043
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
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 2          A.    In terms of equity
 3     percentages.
 4          Q.    Well did Shell have any
 5     partners or co-venturers in Gorgon?
 6          A.    I believe there were four
 7     partners in the Gorgon field.
 8          Q.    Who were the partners?
 9          A.    Shell, Chevron, Texaco and I
10     believe the fourth one would have been
11     Exxon Mobil.
12          Q.    Do you know the breakdown of
13     interests among the partners?
14          A.    Not now.
15          Q.    Do you know whether Shell
16     had the largest interest?
17          A.    I can't remember.
18          Q.    Who was the operator of
19     Gorgon?
20          A.    WAPET was the operator of
21     Gorgon and that moved to Chevron.
22          Q.    When you say that moved to
23     Chevron, what do you mean?
24          A.    The company WAPET was
25     dissolved and Chevron took over the
0044
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     operatorship of greater Gordon.
 3          Q.    Do you know had WAPET been a
 4     subsidiary of Chevron?
 5          A.    I don't believe so.  I
 6     believe it was a separate company set
 7     up by the owners in the Gorgon field.
 8          Q.    Do you know if there was any
 9     allocation of work responsibilities
10     among the partners?
11                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
12     form.
13          Q.    In Gorgon?
14                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
15     form.
16          A.    I don't fully understand the
17     question.  Are you talking about time
18     frame or --
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19          Q.    In 1999.  What was Shell's
20     responsibility as a partner with
21     respect to Gorgon?  Was it purely
22     financial?
23          A.    It was purely -- it was
24     purely as an equity owner.  The actual
25     day-to-day running of Gorgon was
0045
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     undertaken by WAPET.
 3          Q.    Did you do any work with
 4     respect to Gorgon as part of the ARPR
 5     process that began in late 1999?
 6          A.    I received the technical
 7     data from WAPET.  There had to be --
 8     there was a difference in how WAPET
 9     reported their probabilistic
10     distributions.  So there had to be --
11     these had to be altered to fit the
12     Shell guidelines.  And then there was
13     discussions with the asset managers as
14     to the economics and to the
15     commerciality.
16          Q.    Who did you have those
17     discussions with?
18          A.    With -- in WAPET or within
19     Shell?
20          Q.    Well let's start with WAPET.
21          A.    In WAPET my counterpart in
22     WAPET was somebody called Erik van der
23     Steen.
24          Q.    And what do you recall about
25     your conversations with Mr. van der
0046
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Steen?
 3          A.    They were purely technical
 4     so that I could gain an understanding
 5     of the actual technical reserves.
 6          Q.    And who did you have
 7     conversations with within SDA?
 8          A.    For the economic part of it,
 9     I was actually undertaking the economic
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10     analysis, so that was with my line
11     manager and with Mark Chittleborough.
12          Q.    And again, by your line
13     manager you're referring to?
14          A.    Wim Maarse.
15          Q.    And who is Mr.
16     Chittleborough?
17          A.    He was the asset manager
18     within SDA for Gorgon.
19          Q.    What do you recall about
20     your conversations with Mr.
21     Chittleborough?
22                MR. SMITH:  In 1999?
23                MR. MILLKEY:  In 1999.
24          A.    It was concerning the
25     maturity of the gas market for Gorgon
0047
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     and how commercial discussions were
 3     proceeding with potential buyers in the
 4     Far East.
 5          Q.    What specifically do you
 6     recall about those conversations?
 7          A.    Specifically it was the
 8     maturity of a gas market.
 9          Q.    Did you have some concerns
10     about the maturity of the gas market
11     for Gorgon at that time?
12                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
13     form.
14          A.    In what -- in what respect
15     do you mean concerns?
16          Q.    Did you understand -- I
17     think you testified earlier that
18     economic maturity was a requirement for
19     the booking of proved reserves?
20          A.    Yes.
21          Q.    Let me ask this.  Do you
22     know whether there were any signed
23     contracts in place for the sale of
24     Gorgon gas at that time in 1999?
25          A.    There were no signed
0048
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 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     contracts in place.
 3          Q.    Do you know whether there
 4     ever had been signed contracts in place
 5     for the sale of Gorgon gas?
 6          A.    I believe there had been
 7     signed letters of intent in place
 8     previously.
 9          Q.    Did you ever see any signed
10     letters of intent?
11          A.    No, I didn't.
12          Q.    Who did you understand the
13     signed letters of intent were with?
14          A.    It was with Far East buyers.
15     Which country I can't remember, but it
16     wasn't Japan.
17          Q.    What's the basis for your
18     understanding that there had been a
19     signed letter of intent?
20          A.    Whenever I talked with
21     anybody in the asset these letters were
22     mentioned and the fact that the Asian
23     crisis had meant that the letters of
24     intent never became commercialized.
25          Q.    But you had never seen any
0049
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     letters; is that correct?
 3          A.    That's correct.
 4          Q.    When you refer to the Asian
 5     crisis, what are you talking about?
 6          A.    The Asian crisis is when a
 7     lot of the economies in -- in the Far
 8     East basically started to falter, to
 9     fail and the demand for gas dropped
10     dramatically.
11          Q.    Do you recall when the
12     crisis began?
13          A.    Not exact dates, but -- not
14     exact dates, no.
15          Q.    Do you recall approximately
16     what year?
17          A.    Probably '96, '97, '98.  Not
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18     sure.
19                     (Graham Exhibit 2 for
20     identification, Bates stamped V
21     00100166 and AU 000166.)
22                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
23     number 2 is a one-page document.  It
24     has a couple of Bates numbers.  One of
25     them is V 00100166.  The other is AU
0050
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     000166.  The document appears to be an
 3     email from Mr. Jager to Ms. Graham with
 4     ccs to Robert Blaauw and to Mr. Jager
 5     himself.
 6          Q.    Ms. Graham, do you recall
 7     this email?
 8          A.    Yes.
 9          Q.    Mr. Jager refers to a change
10     you were suggesting in respect to
11     Gorgon reserves from proven to SFR
12     uncommercial.  Is that a suggestion
13     that you in fact had made?
14          A.    No.  I don't believe that I
15     would have suggested a move from proven
16     to SFR uncommercial.  I would have
17     suggested a move from proven to SFR
18     commercial.
19          Q.    Do you recall why you made
20     that suggestion?
21          A.    The move or the difference
22     between commercial or uncommercial?
23          Q.    Pardon me.  I'm not sure I
24     understand your question.
25                MR. SMITH:  Swear him in.
0051
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2                MR. MILLKEY:  I'd like a
 3     clarification.
 4          A.    I didn't know whether you're
 5     asking me whether I'm challenging the
 6     fact that I wouldn't have suggested SFR
 7     uncommercial or if you're asking me why
 8     I would have suggested moving it at all
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 9     from proved to something else.
10          Q.    Why were you suggesting
11     moving it from proved to something
12     else?
13          A.    Because there's a dual -- in
14     my mind there was a dual check for
15     proven reserves.  One was economic and
16     Gorgon was definitely economic.  And
17     the second one was the timing of the
18     ability to get the gas to market.  And
19     in my view the gas could not be got to
20     market in the next four or five years.
21     It was probably in the next 10 years.
22     And therefore, in my view, it should be
23     moved from proven to scope for recovery
24     commercial.
25          Q.    Now, Mr. Jager says
0052
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     regarding your suggestion that it at
 3     least seemed logical to him.  At this
 4     point in time was Mr. Jager receptive
 5     to your suggestion?
 6                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 7     form.
 8          A.    I can't remember the
 9     details, but from this email it appears
10     that's the case.
11          Q.    He refers to a conversation
12     you had had I guess the week before.
13     Do you recall that conversation?
14          A.    No, I don't.
15          Q.    He says "I am keen to check
16     with the relevant bodies here what the
17     possible fallout from such a change
18     could/would be (before it happens)."
19     Did you have an understanding of what
20     he meant by the relevant bodies?
21          A.    I never questioned Rob as to
22     what he meant by relevant bodies, but
23     my assumption would have been that he
24     would be checking with Remco Aalbers.
25          Q.    Did you have an
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0053
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     understanding, or how did you
 3     understand his reference to possible
 4     fallout?
 5          A.    Again, I never questioned
 6     him exactly what he meant.  My
 7     understanding of that would have been
 8     the impact if reserves was on SDA's
 9     scorecard.
10          Q.    What is a scorecard?
11          A.    The scorecard is the way in
12     which the center judges SDA's
13     performance.
14          Q.    Were proved reserve goals
15     ever included within scorecards?
16                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
17     form; lack of foundation.  Do you mean
18     for SDA?
19                MR. MILLKEY:  For SDA.
20          A.    For SDA, initially when I
21     was in SDA it wasn't, and at some time
22     during my tenure it was.  But I can't
23     remember the exact years that reserves
24     were on the scorecard.
25          Q.    I just want to make sure I
0054
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     understand how scorecards work.  Was
 3     there a point during the year when
 4     scorecard goals were written up for
 5     later evaluation, is that the way it
 6     worked?
 7          A.    The scorecard was on an
 8     annual basis and there would be 10 or
 9     15 items on the scorecard, each worth
10     about five or 10 percent.  So reserves
11     would have been worth 5 percent of the
12     scorecard.  And there were targets, and
13     there was meeting targets, below target
14     or above target, and based on that you
15     would get a percentage of the 5
16     percent, and the roll-up of all the
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17     items on the scorecard would be the
18     performance of SDA, the corporate
19     performance of SDA over the year.
20          Q.    Were there any consequences
21     for failing to meet your scorecard
22     goals, for SDA?
23          A.    What do you mean by
24     consequences?  I mean there was --
25          Q.    Were there --
0055
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    There was the psychological
 3     consequence of managers.
 4          Q.    Was there either -- was
 5     there a funding consequence for SDA?
 6                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 7     form.
 8          A.    By --
 9          Q.    If SDA failed to meet its
10     scorecard goals, could that impact the
11     funding that SDA would receive from
12     Shell, for example?
13          A.    No.
14                MR. SMITH:  Objection to the
15     form.
16          Q.    Were there consequences for
17     bonuses or compensation of individuals
18     who worked within SDA?
19          A.    Yes.  Your bonus was made up
20     of a combination of factors, your
21     individual performance being the one
22     that was the most important, but your
23     individual performance was multiplied
24     by a weighting factor and that
25     weighting factor came from the
0056
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     scorecard.
 3          Q.    Do you recall when proved
 4     reserves were on SDA's scorecard for
 5     the first time?
 6          A.    No, I don't.
 7          Q.    Do you know whether proved
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 8     reserves were on the scorecard that was
 9     in effect for SDA in 1999?
10          A.    No, I don't.
11          Q.    Mr. Jager asked for
12     information on the size, both total and
13     relative, of this change and I guess
14     he's referring to your suggestion that
15     we discussed before.  Do you recall if
16     -- do you recall whether you responded
17     to that request?
18          A.    I can't remember.  I -- I
19     presume I would have.
20          Q.    Do you recall the size of
21     the proved reserve booking that SDA had
22     for Gorgon as of 1999?
23          A.    Not the absolute number, but
24     relative I believe it was about 50
25     percent.
0057
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Of SDA's portfolio you mean?
 3          A.    Of SDA's proved reserves.
 4          Q.    Did you take any steps to
 5     find out about what Mr. Jager refers to
 6     as the possible fallout, or was that
 7     something that he did?
 8          A.    I didn't do any steps.
 9          Q.    Now, you said he was the
10     regional business advisor.  What do you
11     understand the role of a regional
12     business advisor to be?  What does that
13     person do?
14          A.    He facilitates the
15     conversation between the operating unit
16     and the center.  So he would come from
17     The Hague and be the face of the center
18     to the operating unit, but conversely,
19     in any meetings in the center he would
20     be the face of SDA.
21          Q.    So he's kind of a liaison?
22          A.    Yes.
23          Q.    Who's stationed in The
24     Hague?
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25          A.    Yes.
0058
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Do you recall at this
 3     juncture whether Mr. Blaauw expressed
 4     any opinion on the suggested change
 5     from proved to unproved?
 6          A.    I don't recall.
 7                MR. SMITH:  If you're done
 8     with this, we've been going about an
 9     hour and 15, should we take a break?
10                MR. MILLKEY:  That's fine.
11                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Going
12     off the record, the time is 11:12.
13                (A recess was taken.)
14                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Going
15     back on the record, the time is 11:33.
16          Q.    Turning back to Graham
17     Exhibit number 2, we talked about the
18     text of this where Mr. Jager refers to
19     your suggestion to change Gorgon, the
20     categorization of Gorgon from proved --
21     proven to SFR uncommercial and you
22     suggested that you would not have
23     suggested that change, you would have
24     suggested SFR commercial.  Can you just
25     explain why and what the difference is
0059
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     between SFR commercial and
 3     uncommercial?
 4                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 5     form; asked and answered.
 6          A.    The Shell -- the Shell
 7     guidelines commercial, SFR commercial
 8     is the project screens economically,
 9     and it is -- it is just nonmature in a
10     technical sense.  Whereas scope for
11     recovery uncommercial it is nonmature
12     in a technical sense but also it
13     doesn't screen economically.
14          Q.    Okay.  Also in this email we
15     discussed the term relevant bodies.  Do
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16     you know whether the EP ExCom might --
17     was one of the relevant bodies to which
18     Mr. Jager was referring?
19                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
20     form; asked and answered.
21          A.    I never questioned Rob on
22     what he meant by relevant bodies.
23          Q.    Do you know whether a
24     movement from a proven categorization
25     to an unproven categorization would
0060
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     require the approval of the EP ExCom?
 3          A.    I don't know.
 4                     (Graham Exhibit 3 for
 5     identification, Bates stamped PER
 6     00072308 through PER 00072310.)
 7          Q.    Ms. Graham, if you could
 8     just let me know after you've had a
 9     chance to review that.
10                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
11     number 3 appears to be a fax cover
12     sheet with an attachment.  The Bates
13     range is PER 00072308 through PER
14     00072310.  The fax cover sheet is dated
15     May 8th, from Mark Chittleborough to
16     Paul Oen, that's O-e-n, Neil Theobald
17     and Alan Dunlop.  The attachment
18     appears to be a two-page letter dated
19     August 21st, 1998, on the letterhead of
20     an entity called Kogas.
21          Q.    Ms. Graham, I realize your
22     name does not appear anywhere on this
23     document, but I'm wondering if you've
24     ever seen it before.
25          A.    No.
0061
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    You had mentioned earlier
 3     the possibility that there was a signed
 4     letter of intent.  Do you know whether
 5     that letter of intent, if in fact there
 6     was one, was with Kogas?
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 7          A.    I don't know.
 8                     (Graham Exhibit 4 for
 9     identification, Bates stamped PER
10     00012719 through 12720.)
11                MR. MILLKEY: Graham Exhibit
12     number 4 is an email string.  The Bates
13     range is PER 00012719 through 12720.
14     The earliest email in the string
15     appears to be from Ms. Graham to Mr.
16     Aalbers with a cc to Jeroen Hoonhorst
17     dated December 23rd, 1999?
18          Q.    Ms. Graham, do you recall
19     this email string?
20          A.    Yes.
21          Q.    Who is Mr. Hoonhorst?
22          A.    I don't know.
23          Q.    In that first email in the
24     string you write in the second
25     paragraph, "I've been looking back at
0062
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     our data and am unable to find when
 3     Gorgon was booked as reserves (my data
 4     goes back to '95) and the rational,"
 5     "rationale for the booking.  Is that
 6     information available in any central
 7     archive?"
 8                You say your data went back
 9     to 1995.  Did the data you have show
10     that Gorgon was booked as proved as
11     early as 1995?
12          A.    I can't remember.  I know it
13     was booked as proved the year before,
14     but I can't remember previously.
15          Q.    And by the year before you
16     mean 1998, January 1st, 1998, or --
17          A.    It was booked on 1/1/99, so
18     1/1/98 I don't know about.
19          Q.    Why were you looking for
20     information about the original booking
21     of Gorgon?
22          A.    Because I was new in the
23     position and I was trying to understand
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24     the history for all the fields that I
25     was looking after.
0063
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Your email also says you
 3     were looking for information about the
 4     rationale for the booking.  Was that
 5     for the reason you just gave?
 6          A.    The reason I was new in the
 7     job?
 8          Q.    Yes.
 9          A.    Yes.
10          Q.    Now, on the first page of
11     the exhibit there's an email on the
12     bottom of the page from Mr. Aalbers to
13     you thanking you for the draft
14     submissions.  Is he referring to the
15     draft submission of the ARPR?
16          A.    Yes.
17          Q.    Do you recall whether in the
18     draft submission you suggested
19     recategorizing Gorgon from proved to an
20     unproved category?
21                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
22     form.
23          A.    No, because the draft
24     submissions that I submitted were not
25     submissions for -- for Australia where
0064
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Gorgon would fit in the submission for
 3     Australia.  They were submissions for
 4     Cambodia, Mauritania and PNG and these
 5     are separate submissions.
 6          Q.    So you had not yet made a
 7     submission for SDA, is that -- I'm
 8     sorry, for Gorgon?
 9          A.    No.
10          Q.    At the top of the page, the
11     first page, 12719, there's an email
12     from Mr. Aalbers to you with a cc to
13     Bea Jespers dated January 5th, 2000.
14     Who is Ms. Jespers?
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15          A.    She was a secretary.
16          Q.    In the second paragraph of
17     Mr. Aalbers' email he says, "As to your
18     question on Gorgon, we indeed do not
19     have that data easily available.  When
20     was Gorgon discovered?  I had a look
21     and it's not in my list (1986 through
22     1998).  Maybe you could check with
23     Helge Hammer."  Was Mr. Hammer the
24     reserves coordinator at the time that
25     Gorgon was first booked as proved?
0065
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    I never managed to find that
 3     out.
 4          Q.    Did you take Mr. Aalbers'
 5     suggestion and contact Mr. Hammer about
 6     Gorgon?
 7          A.    I didn't because Helge was
 8     actually on leave in Norway for two
 9     months over that period.
10          Q.    Did you ever speak with Mr.
11     Hammer about Gorgon after this time?
12          A.    No.
13                     (Graham Exhibit 5 for
14     identification, Bates stamped PER
15     00012729 through 12736.)
16                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
17     number 5 is an email with an attachment
18     from Remco Aalbers to Ms. Graham, with
19     a cc to Bea Jespers.  The subject line
20     is "Reserves report SDA."  The Bates
21     range is PER 00012729 through 12736.
22          Q.    Ms. Graham, do you recall
23     receiving this email?
24          A.    Yes.
25          Q.    The first line of the email
0066
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     to you says, "Proved reserves -
 3     externally reported - were first booked
 4     in 1997 (for 1.1.98) - see attached
 5     files from Helge."  Was this the first
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 6     time you learned when proved reserves
 7     were first booked for Gorgon?
 8          A.    This was Remco telling me
 9     that this was when he believed that
10     they were booked.  However, this isn't
11     the ARPR submission.
12          Q.    What do you recall this is?
13          A.    These are Helge's work books
14     which feed -- these are his personal
15     work books which feed into the ARPR
16     submission.
17          Q.    Right.
18          A.    So basically you take the
19     roll-up from these data sheets and put
20     it into the ARPR submission.  So when I
21     mentioned before the break that the
22     ARPR submission is a roll-up, this is
23     consistent with that.  These are the
24     worksheets that would feed into the
25     ARPR submission.  It's the background
0067
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     information.
 3          Q.    Is there a place on these
 4     worksheets that indicates when Gorgon
 5     was first booked as proved?
 6                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 7     form.  I'd just note for the record
 8     that I guess a couple of pages of this
 9     are quite difficult to read.
10                MR. MILLKEY:  That is
11     correct.
12          A.    The first set is easy to
13     read and you can see that Gorgon is
14     booked as there is 9.83 as proved
15     reserves for Gorgon under undeveloped
16     reserves.
17          Q.    Which page are you on?
18          A.    Page 1.
19          Q.    That's the first page of the
20     -- so that's 12731; is that correct?
21          A.    Yes.
22          Q.    And where exactly are you
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23     looking?
24          A.    The table that says dry gas
25     nonassociated.
0068
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Right.
 3          A.    There's two fields in there,
 4     Bonga and Gorgon.
 5          Q.    Right.
 6          A.    Under the Gorgon line under
 7     undeveloped reserves it says proved
 8     9.83.  So from that you can tell that
 9     as of 1/1/98 Helge was holding Gorgon
10     as proved undeveloped reserves.  To be
11     able to tell when it was booked you
12     need to find the 1997 one and compare
13     it against it.  And I think this is the
14     1997 one, but it's pretty difficult to
15     read.
16                MR. SMITH:  Just for the
17     record, you said "this," maybe you
18     could just mention the Bates number.
19          A.    Sorry, PER 00012735.
20          Q.    As best you can tell from
21     the pages you've just mentioned or the
22     page you just mentioned, was Gorgon
23     booked as of January 1, 1997?
24          A.    It would appear -- it would
25     look as if it's saying zero improved
0069
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     and there's a number in expectation.
 3          Q.    Okay.  Acknowledging that
 4     this is very difficult to read.
 5                Now, turning back to 12731,
 6     just above the 9.83 number I think you
 7     mentioned there's a P.  That stands for
 8     proved or proven?
 9          A.    Yes.
10          Q.    The E stands for
11     expectation; is that correct?
12                THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry.
13          Q.    Next to that there's an H.
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14                MR. SMITH:  You need an
15     audible response.
16          A.    Yes.  Sorry.
17          Q.    And next to the E there's an
18     H.  What does that stand for?
19          A.    High.
20          Q.    High.  And what does that
21     mean?
22          A.    There is a 15 percent chance
23     that there are reserves of that
24     magnitude in place.
25          Q.    When you submitted an ARPR
0070
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     the following year.  Well, let's see.
 3     As of January 1, would have been 2000?
 4     Let's see, hold on.
 5                MR. SMITH:  '99.
 6          A.    '99.
 7          Q.    '99.  Would you have
 8     included worksheets -- worksheets like
 9     this with your submission?
10          A.    Most likely.  I would have
11     definitely -- I had a spreadsheet
12     identical to this which I would have
13     developed, and most likely I would have
14     sent this as backup information with
15     the ARPR submission.
16          Q.    In the email on the first
17     page of this exhibit it refers to Bea
18     Jespers being back in the office and
19     Mr. Aalbers says he would ask her to
20     see if she can find the old field
21     reserves files.  Do you recall
22     receiving any additional information
23     about the initial booking from Ms.
24     Jespers or Mr. Aalbers?
25          A.    No.
0071
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2                     (Graham Exhibit 6 for
 3     identification, Bates stamped GC
 4     00008108 through 8131.)

file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt (43 of 101)9/18/2007 3:53:31 PM

Case 3:04-cv-00374-JAP-JJH   Document 348-11   Filed 10/10/07   Page 43 of 150 PageID:

 22348



file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt

 5                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
 6     number 6 has the title "Annual review
 7     of petroleum resources as at 1.1.1998
 8     for Shell Development Australia."  The
 9     Bates range is GC 00008108 through
10     8131.
11          Q.    Ms. Graham, have you ever
12     seen this document before?
13          A.    The front cover I have and I
14     presume I probably have seen the bits
15     at the back before.
16          Q.    What is this document?
17          A.    The front cover is Helge's
18     note for management in SDA as to the --
19     it's a summary of the ARPR.  And then
20     the back is a mixture of the ARPR
21     submission and Helge's working notes.
22          Q.    Do you know whether -- now,
23     when you say the working notes, are
24     those the same notes that we just
25     looked at as Exhibit 5?
0072
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    Yes.
 3          Q.    Can you tell whether those
 4     notes were submitted as part of Mr.
 5     Hammer's ARPR submission?
 6          A.    They wouldn't be because the
 7     ARPR submission is an automatic
 8     document.  So there's no way they could
 9     have been submitted at the same time.
10     They might have been submitted an hour
11     later, but they couldn't have been
12     submitted at the same time.
13          Q.    On the first page of the
14     Exhibit 6 the last full paragraph on
15     the page says, "A technical revision of
16     the Gorgon field (by RTS/SDA) has
17     resulted in an increase of the gas
18     reserves" -- I'm sorry, "an increase
19     of" yes, "of the gas reserves of 2.39
20     tcf.  Based on new PVT analysis, a
21     higher condensate gas ratio has been
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22     estimated, resulting in condensate
23     reserves increasing by 103 million
24     bbl."  What is RTS?  Do you know what
25     RTS refers to?
0073
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    Rijswijk, research and
 3     technical services, so the research
 4     center in Rijswijk.
 5          Q.    And when it says, refers to
 6     2.39 tcf, what does tcf mean?
 7          A.    Trillion cubic feet.
 8          Q.    And PVT analysis, what does
 9     PVT refer to?
10          A.    Pressure volume temperature.
11          Q.    Now, that paragraph refers
12     to a technical revision of the Gorgon
13     field.  What do you understand the term
14     technical revision to mean?
15                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
16     form.
17          A.    I never -- I never talked to
18     Helge about this note.  My
19     interpretation is a technical revision
20     is a technical review.
21          Q.    Is what?
22          A.    A technical review.
23          Q.    What does that mean?
24          A.    Technical experts within SDA
25     and Rijswijk would visit the operator
0074
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     and undertake to examine the technical
 3     data.
 4          Q.    Do you know whether the
 5     Gorgon reserves when they were first
 6     booked were booked as a revision?
 7          A.    I don't know.
 8                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 9     form and lack of foundation.
10          Q.    Have you ever heard that the
11     Gorgon booking was reported as a
12     revision to the SEC in 1998?
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13                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
14     form and lack of foundation.
15          A.    I've never heard.
16          Q.    When you are submitting the
17     ARPR, can you characterize a book
18     reserve -- a proved reserve booking as
19     a revision?
20                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
21     form.
22          A.    I can't remember.  In the
23     main spreadsheet you account for the
24     total proved reserves, and there is a
25     part of the spreadsheet where you
0075
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     indicate if there's any changes to --
 3     from the previous year and then you
 4     indicate what these changes were due
 5     to.
 6          Q.    If SDA were characterizing
 7     reserves as proved for the first time
 8     in its ARPR submission, would it be
 9     unusual to characterize that initial
10     booking as a revision?
11                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
12     form.
13          A.    I don't -- I don't know.  I
14     don't have enough experience.
15                MR. MILLKEY:  Why don't we
16     go off the record for a moment.  He
17     needs to change the tape.
18                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  This
19     marks the end of tape number 1, volume
20     1 of the video deposition of Sheila
21     Graham.  Going off the record, the time
22     is 12:06.
23                (A recess was taken.)
24                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Back on
25     the record.  Here marks the beginning
0076
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     of tape number 2, volume 1 in the video
 3     deposition of Sheila Graham.  The time
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 4     is 12:13.
 5                     (Graham Exhibit 7 for
 6     identification, Bates stamped PER
 7     00012745 through 12747.)
 8          Q.    Ms. Graham, we're marking a
 9     document to be Graham Exhibit 7, if you
10     could just spend a moment looking at
11     it.
12                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
13     number 7 is an email string.  The Bates
14     range is PER 00012745 through 12747.
15     The earliest email in the string is
16     from Mr. Jager to Ms. Graham dated
17     December 24th, 1999, and I believe that
18     email we discussed in connection with
19     an earlier exhibit.  Just above that on
20     the second page of the exhibit there's
21     an email from Ms. Graham dated January
22     7th, 2000 to Mr. Jager with ccs to Mr.
23     Blaauw and Mr. Aalbers.
24          Q.    In the second paragraph --
25     well, first of all, Ms. Graham, do you
0077
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     recall this email string?
 3          A.    Yes.
 4          Q.    The second paragraph of your
 5     January 7th 3:04 a.m. email states,
 6     "I've tried to find out when Gorgon was
 7     initially booked as reserves or moved
 8     from SFR, but our detailed records only
 9     go back to 1995 where it was registered
10     as reserves."  What does the term --
11     what does the phrase registered as
12     reserves mean?
13          A.    In the work books, the
14     electronic work books that I would have
15     -- that I found there was a number
16     inserted against Gorgon for reserves.
17          Q.    As what type of reserves?
18          A.    I don't recall, but it would
19     -- could have been scope for recovery
20     or expectation.
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21          Q.    Now, in Exhibit 5 which we
22     discussed a few moments ago, Mr.
23     Aalbers told you that reserves were
24     first booked in 1997 for 1/1/98.  That
25     email was also dated January 7th.  I
0078
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     take it at some point that same day you
 3     received Mr. Aalbers' email.  Let me
 4     just say that again.
 5                In Exhibit 7 you're still
 6     saying you don't know when it was first
 7     booked.  I take it after this email in
 8     Exhibit 7 you learned from Mr. Aalbers
 9     that it was booked as of January 1st,
10     1998; is that correct?
11                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
12     form.  That's not what Mr. Aalbers'
13     email says.
14          A.    Mr. Aalbers' email is
15     talking about proved reserves whereas I
16     was interested in the complete chain of
17     events, when was it first booked to
18     scope for recovery, when would it move
19     from scope for recovery to expectation
20     reserves and when would it finally be
21     booked as proved reserves.
22          Q.    So when you say "I tried to
23     find out" -- when you say in Exhibit 7,
24     "I've tried to find out when Gorgon was
25     initially booked as reserves" you were
0079
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     not talking about proved reserves --
 3          A.    No.
 4          Q.    -- is that correct?
 5                In the next paragraph, in
 6     Exhibit 7 you say "Gorgon was certified
 7     by external reserves certifiers NSAI in
 8     December -- in December '98.  What is
 9     NSAI?
10          A.    I can't remember what it
11     stands for exactly.  It's the name of
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12     the reserves certification company.
13          Q.    Do you know where that
14     company was located?
15          A.    I don't.
16          Q.    In the next paragraph you
17     write, "Based on the above, and also
18     the comment in the reserves guidelines
19     not to change categories without
20     considerable justification, SDA's
21     recommendation is to leave Gorgon in
22     reserves."  By reserves, are you
23     referring to proved reserves there?
24          A.    No, I'm referring to both
25     proved and expectation.
0080
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Was it your recommendation
 3     -- was it SDA's recommendation at this
 4     time that the Gorgon reserves which had
 5     previously been booked as proved remain
 6     booked as proved?
 7          A.    It was my recommendation.
 8          Q.    Now you say at the beginning
 9     of that paragraph "Based on the above."
10     What specifically were you referring
11     to?
12          A.    I don't know.
13          Q.    Do you recall whether you
14     relied on the NSAI certification as a
15     basis for recommending that the Gorgon
16     proved reserves remain proved.
17          A.    No, definitely not.  The
18     recommendation is a technical, it
19     doesn't address the -- the
20     commerciality.
21                MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, in
22     your answer you said recommendation.
23     Did you mean the certification from
24     NSAI?
25                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
0081
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2                MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to
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 3     be clear.
 4          Q.    How did you come to this
 5     recommendation?
 6          A.    The recommendation to keep
 7     it in proved reserves --
 8          Q.    Yes.
 9          A.    -- and then to address the
10     issue -- what was the timing it said?
11     In October.  This was based on
12     discussions with the asset manager,
13     Mark Chittleborough, where -- and also
14     my own experience as the economist for
15     Gorgon on the status of discussions
16     with Northwest Shelf's partners and the
17     setting up of ALNG.
18          Q.    The setting up of what, I'm
19     sorry?
20          A.    Australian LNG.
21          Q.    Describe for me, please,
22     your conversations with Mr.
23     Chittleborough on this subject?
24          A.    It -- it was concerning the
25     probability of signed agreements being
0082
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     in place to either separately develop
 3     Gorgon as a stand-alone development
 4     with marketing to the Far East, or to
 5     -- to go into a partnership with the
 6     Northwest Shelf and then build five --
 7     two more trains on the Northwest Shelf
 8     which would be co-owned by the Gorgon
 9     owners and the Northwest Shelf owners
10     and it was the maturity of these
11     discussions that we would be
12     discussing.
13          Q.    If you could explain to me
14     further, how did the possibility of a
15     partnership with the Northwest Shelf
16     make a difference with respect to the
17     commerciality of Gorgon?
18          A.    Because then you would have
19     a -- you would know with absolute

file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt (50 of 101)9/18/2007 3:53:31 PM

Case 3:04-cv-00374-JAP-JJH   Document 348-11   Filed 10/10/07   Page 50 of 150 PageID:

 22355



file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt

20     certainty that the Gorgon field would
21     be -- that the gas from the Gorgon
22     field would be used as backfill into
23     the existing trains and trains 5 and 6.
24     So you would have a signed agreement
25     that that gas would be used.
0083
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    What does backfill mean?
 3          A.    Backfill means that when the
 4     gas that's allocated for the existing
 5     trains from the Northwest Shelf runs
 6     out, Gorgon would then be used to -- to
 7     run the trains.
 8          Q.    Was there a contract in
 9     existence for the sale of the gas from
10     the Northwest Shelf?
11          A.    Yes.
12          Q.    At this time, January 2000,
13     was there a partnership between Gorgon
14     and the Northwest Shelf?
15          A.    There were discussions
16     ongoing as to set up a partnership.
17          Q.    Was that partnership ever
18     entered?
19          A.    I believe not.
20          Q.    Now, you described the
21     partnership as one possibility I
22     believe.  Was there still a possibility
23     that Gorgon would be developed as a
24     stand-alone project?
25          A.    Yes, that was being worked
0084
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     up separately the possibility that
 3     Gorgon would separately go out and find
 4     its own buyers for its gas and build
 5     Gorgon as a green field development as
 6     opposed to a brown field development
 7     with Northwest Shelf.
 8          Q.    What's the difference
 9     between -- strike that.
10                What does green field mean?
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11          A.    Green field means on a brand
12     new site with no existing structure.
13          Q.    Had anything happened
14     between December of 1999 and this email
15     -- strike that.
16                Had a letter of intent with
17     respect to the Gorgon project been
18     signed either in December of -- in
19     December of 1999?
20          A.    Either or --
21          Q.    Let me strike that, I'm
22     sorry.
23                Was a letter of intent with
24     respect to the Gorgon project signed in
25     December of 1999?
0085
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    No.
 3          Q.    Was a letter of intent with
 4     respect to the Gorgon project signed in
 5     January of 2000?
 6          A.    No.
 7          Q.    With respect to the
 8     possibility that Gorgon would develop
 9     as a stand-alone project, did you in
10     January of 2000 believe there was
11     sufficient commerciality to justify the
12     continued booking of Gorgon as proved?
13          A.    Yes.  I believed that there
14     was sufficient value in cooperation
15     between the Northwest Shelf and Gorgon
16     that a deal would be reached during
17     that year.
18          Q.    I guess my question though
19     is with respect to Gorgon as a stand-
20     alone project.
21          A.    I don't understand the
22     significance of a stand-alone project.
23          Q.    I understood you to say that
24     there were two possibilities.
25          A.    Yes.
0086
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
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 2          Q.    Gorgon would be developed as
 3     a stand-alone project or there would be
 4     a partnership with the Northwest Shelf?
 5          A.    Yes.
 6          Q.    Was your recommendation that
 7     the Gorgon reserves remain booked as
 8     proved based only on the possibility of
 9     the partnership with the Northwest
10     Shelf?
11          A.    No, it was a combination of
12     both.  There was -- I felt there was a
13     higher chance that the partnership
14     would succeed than the green field, but
15     we were still all working very hard on
16     the green field as well.
17          Q.    Setting aside the
18     possibility of the partnership, did you
19     believe there was sufficient
20     commerciality in Gorgon as a stand-
21     alone project to maintain it on the
22     books as proved?
23                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
24     form.
25          A.    I can't answer that question
0087
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     because I -- it was never considered in
 3     that fact because I was examining the
 4     totality of the deals that were
 5     available to me in deciding whether
 6     proved -- whether to keep it as proved
 7     or not.
 8          Q.    Now, in December of 1999 you
 9     had suggested changing the classification
10     of Gorgon from proved to, what was it,
11     commercial unproved; is that right?
12          A.    SFR commercial.
13          Q.    SFR commercial.  Is the
14     possibility of this deal with the
15     Northwest Shelf the sole basis for your
16     change of recommendation in January of
17     2000?
18                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
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19     form.
20          A.    It -- my -- my
21     recommendation to keep it as reserves
22     and -- and review the situation during
23     the forthcoming year was based on the
24     totality of evidence that was available
25     to me.
0088
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Am I correct -- strike that.
 3                Other than the possibility
 4     of the Northwest Shelf deal, were there
 5     other possibilities that arose in
 6     either December 1999 or January 2000
 7     for the sale of Gorgon gas?
 8                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 9     form.  That's been asked and answered.
10          A.    I can't remember the
11     specific details.  I know we were
12     working on a variety of options.
13          Q.    But you don't recall a
14     specific opportunity for the sale of
15     Gorgon gas during that time period?
16                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
17     form.
18          A.    I know we were working on
19     specific deals.  I just can't remember
20     the country.  I know it wasn't Japan,
21     but I know that we were working on two
22     specific countries, but I can't
23     remember which countries they were, in
24     the Far East.
25          Q.    Turning back to the text of
0089
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Exhibit 7, you refer to the comment in
 3     the reserves guidelines not to change
 4     categories without considerable
 5     justification.  Was that comment in the
 6     guidelines one of the reasons you were
 7     recommending that the Gorgon proved
 8     reserves remain as proved?
 9          A.    Yes.
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10          Q.    I'd ask you to take a look
11     again at Exhibit 1 which we've marked
12     earlier, and in particular, if you
13     could turn to Page 9, that's 9 at the
14     top of the page, the Bates number is
15     RJW 000121888.
16          A.    Sorry, I've got the wrong
17     exhibit out.  My apologies.
18          Q.    That's okay, take your time.
19          A.    Sorry, if you could repeat
20     that.
21          Q.    If you could turn to Page 9
22     of the guidelines there's a heading
23     "Cumulative production" at the very top
24     of the page.  If you look about halfway
25     down the page there's a sentence
0090
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     beginning "To minimize fluctuations
 3     over time."  Do you see that?
 4          A.    Yes.
 5          Q.    If you could just read that
 6     paragraph and then tell me if this is
 7     the language in the guidelines to which
 8     you were referring?
 9                MR. SMITH:  And if you need
10     to review other parts of the document
11     to answer that question, please do so.
12          Q.    Take your time.  Whatever
13     you need to review is fine.
14          A.    Okay, now, sorry, the
15     question was again.
16          Q.    Is that the language that
17     you were referring to in the paragraph
18     we just discussed from Exhibit 7?
19          A.    Yes.
20          Q.    Could you also read the
21     following paragraph beginning "Existing
22     volumes."  At this time in January of
23     2000, did you consider Gorgon
24     commercially mature?
25          A.    I felt that it had the
0091
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 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     ability to be commercially mature
 3     within the next few quarters.
 4          Q.    But in January of 2000 it
 5     was not commercially mature?
 6                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 7     form.
 8          A.    I felt it would be more
 9     commercially mature in the next -- in
10     the coming quarters.
11          Q.    Now, just looking to the
12     paragraph in Exhibit 1 beginning
13     "Existing volumes," I'll just read it.
14     "Existing volumes classified as
15     reserves but which are no longer
16     commercially mature, may be retained as
17     reserves only in cases when there is an
18     overriding strategic interest, or where
19     a current small operating loss is
20     expected to be reversed in the short
21     term.  In both cases support from
22     shareholders must be obtained," and
23     that last sentence is underscored.
24                At any time during this time
25     period, December of 1999 to January of
0092
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     2000, did anyone suggest to you that
 3     there was an overriding strategic
 4     interest in keeping the Gorgon proved
 5     reserves booked as proved?
 6          A.    No.
 7          Q.    In the last sentence of that
 8     paragraph where it says "In both cases
 9     support from shareholders must be
10     obtained" what do you understand the
11     term shareholders to mean?
12          A.    Rob Jager.
13          Q.    The business advisor?
14          A.    The business advisor that
15     was -- they were always called the
16     shareholders when we had discussions
17     with them.
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18          Q.    Do you know whether the SEC
19     rule governing the reporting of proved
20     reserves includes an exception from its
21     requirements, its proved reserve
22     requirements for companies that wished
23     to minimize fluctuations in their
24     proved reserve bookings?
25                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
0093
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     form.  I just want to note for the
 3     record that the portion of this
 4     document you're reading from talks
 5     about reserves, not proved reserves.
 6     There is a section of this document
 7     that talks about proved reserves, it's
 8     not this one.
 9          Q.    Ms. Graham, in Exhibit 7 you
10     refer to the comment in the reserve
11     guidelines not to change categories
12     without considerable justification.  Is
13     there another portion of the guidelines
14     to which you were referring by that
15     comment?
16          A.    I haven't had time here to
17     read all of these guidelines to see if
18     -- if there is anywhere else.  To
19     minimize the fluctuations over time
20     seems applicable, but I can't remember
21     if that's the exact paragraph I would
22     have been meaning without reading the
23     rest of the document.
24          Q.    Again referring to Exhibit 7
25     where you refer to SDA's recommendation
0094
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     is to leave Gorgon in reserves, was
 3     that your decision?
 4          A.    Yes.
 5          Q.    In reaching that decision
 6     did you consult with anyone else?
 7          A.    No.
 8          Q.    If you could just turn to
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 9     the first page of paragraph -- of
10     Exhibit 7.  There's an email from Mr.
11     Aalbers to you dated January 7th at
12     8:31 a.m.  In the second paragraph he
13     refers to a telecom of this morning.
14     Do you recall having -- do you know
15     whether you were a participant in that
16     telecom?
17          A.    Well the reading of it
18     indicates that I was involved in the
19     telecom with Remco.  I wasn't in the
20     discussions with Rob Jager and Roelof
21     Platenkamp.
22          Q.    Do you remember that
23     particular teleconference?
24          A.    No.
25          Q.    Have you ever had any
0095
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     conversations with Mr. Platenkamp about
 3     proved reserves at Gorgon?
 4          A.    No.
 5          Q.    Do you know who Mr.
 6     Platenkamp was at the time?
 7          A.    Yes, he was the planning
 8     head of the central planning group.
 9          Q.    Now, in the next paragraph
10     there's a reference to 20 percent
11     increases versus volumes.  Can you
12     explain what that means?
13          A.    That the technical work has
14     indicated that there's 20 percent more
15     volume in the fields than previously
16     thought.
17          Q.    At this juncture was there
18     any discussion about booking that 20
19     percent increase as proved?
20          A.    Yes.  There was a discussion
21     about whether to increase the proved
22     reserves in line with the new technical
23     recommendations or to keep them con- --
24     the same as the previous year's ARPR.
25          Q.    Who do you recall

file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt (58 of 101)9/18/2007 3:53:31 PM

Case 3:04-cv-00374-JAP-JJH   Document 348-11   Filed 10/10/07   Page 58 of 150 PageID:

 22363



file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt

0096
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     participating in those conversations?
 3          A.    I don't recall specifically.
 4     I know there was a discussion with
 5     Remco.  And I'm not sure if anybody
 6     else was involved.
 7          Q.    Did you have a view at that
 8     time about whether the 20 percent
 9     increase should be booked as proved or
10     not?
11          A.    I think I felt that we
12     should keep everything the same as the
13     previous year's.  So not de-book
14     anything and not add anything.  Because
15     I felt that the next six months were
16     going to be decisive for Gorgon and I
17     didn't want to look stupid by either
18     de-booking or adding volumes and that
19     all subsequently changed the next six
20     months.
21          Q.    Do you recall whether Mr.
22     Aalbers expressed a view about whether
23     the 20 percent increase should be
24     booked as proved?
25          A.    I believe he -- he concurred
0097
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     and agreed that we should keep the
 3     booking as per the previous year.
 4          Q.    Did his view on that
 5     question change at any time prior to
 6     the submission of the ARPR for 1999?
 7          A.    Before the submission?
 8          Q.    Right.
 9          A.    No.
10          Q.    Again in paragraph 7 -- I'm
11     sorry, Exhibit 7, about halfway down
12     the page where the paragraph beginning
13     "As indicated."  Do you see that?
14          A.    Yes.
15          Q.    It reads, "As indicated
16     proved gas reserves in Australia have
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17     been an item of discussion with our
18     external auditors for the last two
19     years with reference to the Asian
20     crisis.  It would be difficult to
21     defend a further increase in proved gas
22     reserves which have no signed market."
23     Do you know who Mr. Aalbers was
24     referring to when he wrote "External
25     auditors"?
0098
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    No.
 3          Q.    In the course of your work
 4     as reserves coordinator for SDA, did
 5     you ever have occasion to work with
 6     PricewaterhouseCoopers?
 7          A.    Not in relation to my role
 8     as reserves coordinator.
 9          Q.    In what role did you work
10     with them?
11          A.    I was part of the team
12     involved with the reverse takeover of
13     Woodside.
14          Q.    In connection with your
15     responsibilities as reserves
16     coordinator for SDA, did you ever have
17     occasion to work with personnel from
18     KPMG?
19          A.    No.
20          Q.    In that same paragraph Mr.
21     Aalbers refers to a signed market.  Do
22     you have an understanding of what he
23     intended by that?  Or how did you
24     understand that?
25          A.    I never questioned him about
0099
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     that.  A signed market would be a
 3     signed contract.
 4          Q.    Mr. Aalbers wrote, "It would
 5     be difficult to defend a further
 6     increase in proved gas reserves which
 7     have no signed market."  Did you agree
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 8     with that statement?
 9          A.    I can't remember.
10          Q.    But again, you weren't in
11     favor of increasing the proved reserve
12     booking; is that correct?
13                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
14     form; asked and answered.
15                MR. MILLKEY:  Strike that.
16                You want to take lunch?
17                MR. SMITH:  That would be
18     great, yes.  Thank you.
19                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Going
20     off the record, the time is 12:51.
21                (Lunch recess:  12:51 p.m.)
22   
23   
24   
25   
0100
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A F T E R N O O N    S E S S I O N
 3                         1:47 p.m.
 4                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Back on
 5     the record, the time is 13:47.
 6     S H E I L A   M.   G R A H A M,
 7     resumed, having been previously duly
 8     sworn, was examined and testified
 9     further as follows:
10                CONTINUED EXAMINATION
11                 BY MR. MILLKEY:
12          Q.    Good afternoon.
13                     (Graham Exhibit 8 for
14     identification, Bates stamped GC
15     00008167 through 8169.)
16                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit 8
17     is entitled "1.1.2000 Shell Development
18     Australia:  Review of petroleum
19     resources."  The Bates numbers are GC
20     00008167 through 8169.
21          Q.    Ms. Graham, do you recognize
22     this document?
23          A.    Yes.
24          Q.    Did you draft this document?
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25          A.    Yes.
0101
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    And what is it?
 3          A.    It's my memorandum to manage
 4     -- SDA management on our summary of the
 5     1/1/2000 ARPR.
 6          Q.    Was this document part of
 7     the ARPR submission?
 8          A.    No.
 9          Q.    To whom was this document
10     sent?
11          A.    I don't remember who it was
12     sent to.  It was intended for -- well,
13     Robert Blaauw was my immediate line
14     manager.
15          Q.    Do you know if it was sent
16     to anyone at the center?
17          A.    I don't know.  I can't
18     remember.
19          Q.    If you could look at the
20     paragraph about halfway down the first
21     page discussing Gorgon, in that
22     paragraph it says, "Proved 'technical'
23     reserves have increased accordingly,
24     but due to the lack of a gas market for
25     Gorgon, the proved reserves having been
0102
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     kept at their 1.1.99 level.  This has
 3     been agreed prior to the submission
 4     with both Remco Aalbers and Robert
 5     Jager."  And in the previous sentence
 6     you had discussed the fact that
 7     expectation reserves had increased by
 8     23 mrd sm3.  What does mrd sm3 mean?
 9          A.    Milliard standard cubic
10     meters.
11          Q.    And you mentioned the
12     agreement with Mr. Aalbers.  Had there
13     been any discussions with Mr. Aalbers
14     prior to this date about the
15     possibility of de-booking the Gorgon
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16     proved reserves?
17          A.    This -- this note would have
18     been drafted towards the end of
19     January, and so the -- the discussions
20     that we covered this morning would have
21     taken place prior to this note being
22     drafted.
23          Q.    So maybe you did answer this
24     question earlier today, I just don't
25     recall.  Did you specifically discuss
0103
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     the possibility of de-booking the
 3     proved reserves with Mr. Aalbers?
 4          A.    I can't -- can't recall.
 5          Q.    Did you discuss that subject
 6     with him at some other point?
 7          A.    Definitely during the course
 8     of 2000 it was discussed with Remco.
 9          Q.    Now, in the quoted text
10     which we read you say "But due to the
11     lack of gas" -- "the lack of a gas
12     market for Gorgon the proved reserves
13     have been kept at their 1.1.99 level."
14     So it was specifically because of the
15     lack of a gas market that you did not
16     recommend booking the additional 23
17     percent, or 23 mrd sm3 as proved?
18          A.    Yes.  In conjunction with
19     the -- the discussion this morning,
20     that I didn't want to appear stupid by
21     increasing the reserves and then over
22     the course of the next couple of
23     quarters the commercialization of
24     Gorgon did not succeed and I would then
25     subsequently de-book the whole amount
0104
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     in next year's submission.
 3          Q.    Now, this morning you talked
 4     about using Gorgon gas as backfill for
 5     the Northwest Shelf.  I take it that
 6     would have occurred at some point in
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 7     the future when the Northwest Shelf gas
 8     had been dissipated; is that correct?
 9          A.    I said that there was a
10     discussion about trains 5 and 6.
11          Q.    Right.
12          A.    Which would be combined
13     Northwest Shelf and Gorgon and then the
14     existing trains 1 to 4 would be
15     backfilled with Gorgon gas.  So two
16     distinct opportunities.
17          Q.    At what point in the future
18     was the Gorgon gas projected to be
19     necessary for those projects?
20          A.    The backfill for trains 1 to
21     4 was around 2015-ish, and for trains 5
22     and 6 I can't remember the specific
23     date.
24          Q.    Would it have been before
25     that 2015?
0105
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    It would be before 2015.
 3          Q.    Would it be before 2010, do
 4     you know?
 5          A.    I can't remember.
 6          Q.    Do you know in January of
 7     2000 whether there was a development
 8     plan in place for Gorgon?
 9          A.    By a development plan do you
10     mean -- what exactly did you mean?
11          Q.    A plan for the development
12     and production of gas at Gorgon?
13          A.    Yes.  More than one
14     development plan.
15          Q.    How many development plans
16     were in place?
17          A.    At least three that I was
18     aware of.
19          Q.    Can you just describe
20     briefly what those three plans were?
21          A.    One was a pipeline to the
22     existing Burrup Peninsula where
23     Northwest Shelf is and the other two

file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt (64 of 101)9/18/2007 3:53:31 PM

Case 3:04-cv-00374-JAP-JJH   Document 348-11   Filed 10/10/07   Page 64 of 150 PageID:

 22369



file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt

24     were regarding development of Gorgon.
25     One was for a green field on Thevenard
0106
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Island and the other one was for a
 3     combined -- a combined domestic gas or
 4     methanol usage from -- using the gas
 5     for production of methanol -- well,
 6     methanex.
 7          Q.    Now Gorgon was in the Indian
 8     Ocean or at least out in a body of
 9     water that may have been in the Indian
10     Ocean.  Do you know the depth it was
11     at?
12          A.    I don't.
13          Q.    Did Gorgon require a subsea
14     gathering system to collect the gas?
15          A.    I don't remember the
16     specific technical details.
17          Q.    Do you know if the
18     infrastructure that was necessary for
19     the collection of gas at Gorgon was in
20     place in January of 2000?
21          A.    No, there was no
22     infrastructure in place.
23          Q.    Is the lack of that
24     infrastructure a relevant consideration
25     in determining whether the Gorgon
0107
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     reserves could be booked as proved?
 3          A.    No.  It's just instrumental
 4     in deciding whether they're developed
 5     or undeveloped.
 6          Q.    Do you know whether a gas
 7     processing facility was in place at
 8     that time?
 9          A.    The processing facility for
10     trains 1 to 3 on the Northwest Shelf
11     was in place, but nothing else was in
12     place at that time.
13          Q.    Was there a plan for the
14     construction of a gas processing
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15     facility on Barrow Island?
16          A.    Yes, I believe there may
17     have been.  At what stage I'm not sure.
18          Q.    Do you know if it was
19     intended that that facility would be
20     used for the gas produced from Gorgon?
21          A.    As far as I'm aware, the
22     plans for Barrow Island and for
23     Thevenard Island were for Gorgon gas.
24          Q.    Do you know whether Shell
25     and its joint venture partners had to
0108
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     secure certain permissions from the
 3     Commonwealth of Australia before they
 4     could construct the infrastructure
 5     necessary for collecting gas from
 6     Gorgon?
 7                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 8     form.
 9          A.    At the time I wasn't aware.
10     Sub- -- I am aware now.
11          Q.    What is your current
12     awareness?
13          A.    That environmental approval
14     is required from the government.
15          Q.    Environmental approval for
16     what in particular?
17          A.    For constructing on -- on
18     Barrow Island.
19          Q.    Is Barrow Island a nature
20     preserve in Australia?
21          A.    It's --
22                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
23     form and lack of foundation.
24          Q.    Do you know whether Barrow
25     Island has a nature preserve on it?
0109
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    Barrow Island is both -- has
 3     both existing oil infrastructure on it
 4     and is also an environmental
 5     conservation area.
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 6          Q.    Now, I believe you testified
 7     that you were unaware at the time that
 8     environmental permissions were
 9     necessary for construction of a gas
10     processing facility on Barrow Island;
11     is that correct?
12          A.    I testified that I wasn't
13     aware at the time I was in Australia.
14          Q.    Right.
15          A.    I became aware of it in the
16     last year whilst it's been in the
17     media.
18          Q.    Would the need for a certain
19     -- for certain environmental
20     permissions be a relevant factor in
21     determining whether the Gorgon reserves
22     could be booked as proved?
23                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
24     form.  It's a hypothetical question.
25          A.    I wasn't aware at the time
0110
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     that environmental issues would be
 3     considered for booking reserves.
 4          Q.    Had you been made aware at
 5     the time would that have been a factor
 6     you would have considered in
 7     determining whether the Gorgon reserves
 8     could be booked as proved?
 9                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
10     form and lack of foundation.
11          A.    As I wasn't aware of it, I
12     didn't consider it at the time.
13          Q.    Why don't we take a look at
14     Exhibit 1 again.  I'll just direct your
15     attention to Page 13, which is also
16     numbered RJW 00121892.  Do you have the
17     page?
18          A.    Yes.
19          Q.    This section appears in a
20     larger heading beginning on the
21     previous page called "Resource volume
22     classification for external reporting,"
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23     and again on Page 13, the second
24     paragraph, in the margin there's what I
25     guess can be described as a heading
0111
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     that says "Proved undeveloped
 3     reserves."  The second sentence reads,
 4     "Reasonable certainty is met by using
 5     the P85 value or low side estimate of
 6     undeveloped reserves and taking into
 7     account undefined fluid contacts,
 8     untested recovery mechanisms, license
 9     periods, government restrictions, and
10     market limitations as discussed above."
11                Does the need to get
12     environmental permissions from the
13     Commonwealth of Australia, or the state
14     of Western Australia, fall into the
15     category of government restriction?
16                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
17     form and lack of foundation.
18          A.    I never -- I never
19     considered it because as we discussed
20     this morning, there was numerous
21     options available for Gorgon and the
22     major one, but only one of them, was
23     the direct route straight to the brown
24     field development which went nowhere
25     near Thevenard Island and Barrow
0112
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Island, and therefore, these -- this
 3     restriction would not apply to the
 4     existing brown field site.
 5          Q.    Do you know whether
 6     independent of the environmental
 7     permissions we've been discussing
 8     additional permissions were needed from
 9     the Commonwealth of Australia to put in
10     the infrastructure necessary for
11     recovering gas at Gorgon?
12                MR. SMITH:  At this time?
13          Q.    At this time.
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14          A.    As far as I know, there were
15     no requirements.
16          Q.    Let me just ask you one more
17     question on this subject.  Independent
18     of Gorgon, but just to the best of your
19     understanding of the guidelines, does
20     the need for an environmental
21     permission fall into the category of
22     government restriction in the paragraph
23     we just read from Exhibit 1?
24          A.    Are you asking my opinion
25     now as I'm sitting here?
0113
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Well, we'll start with that,
 3     yes.
 4          A.    My opinion would be that a
 5     permit would fall under governmental
 6     restrictions.
 7          Q.    Did you have a different
 8     opinion in January of 2000?
 9          A.    I had no opinion in January
10     2000 because I hadn't considered it.
11                     (Graham Exhibit 9 for
12     identification, Bates stamped V
13     00100190 through V 00100193 and AU
14     000192 through 195.)
15                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
16     9 is a series of emails.  The Bates
17     range is V 00100190 through V 00100193.
18     There's a second Bates range, AU 000192
19     through 195.
20          Q.    Ms. Graham, do you recall
21     seeing this correspondence before?
22          A.    Yes.
23          Q.    If you could turn your
24     attention to Page V 00100191, which has
25     a small number 2 at the bottom, there's
0114
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     an email from Mr. Aalbers to you with a
 3     number of ccs dated February 1st, 2000.
 4     The first paragraph reads, "Following
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 5     the ExCom on Monday (31/1) I would like
 6     urgently," and the word urgently is in
 7     all caps, "to find out if SDA know what
 8     the other Gorgon partners and WAPET
 9     (Chevron?) are going to do for proved
10     reserve booking 1.1.2000."  Do you
11     recall hearing -- well, following the
12     ExCom, does that refer to a meeting of
13     the EP ExCom, if you know?
14                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
15     form.
16          Q.    Do you know what was
17     intended by ExCom on Monday, 31/1?
18                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
19     form and lack of foundation.
20          A.    I know that ExCom means the
21     executive committee.  I am -- I have no
22     idea what they were meeting about at
23     that time.
24          Q.    So you never heard any
25     reports of that meeting?
0115
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    Other than these emails.
 3          Q.    And further in the email it
 4     says "ExCom seemed concern that the
 5     group is more conservative" it says
 6     "that competition."  I think it
 7     probably means than competition.  Did
 8     you take any steps to find out what
 9     Shell's partners in Gorgon were doing
10     in terms of booking proved reserves?
11          A.    Yes, I was -- I didn't have
12     contact at the correct level in our
13     partner organization so I asked Mark
14     Chittleborough if he could find that
15     out for me.
16          Q.    And what was he able to --
17     was he able to find out anything?
18          A.    Yes, I believe the email at
19     the back of this, so AU 000194, the
20     bottom of that email refers to Texaco's
21     response to Mark's questions.
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22          Q.    And the response was?
23          A.    And Texaco do not carry it
24     as proved reserves.
25          Q.    Did you ever find out if
0116
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Shell's other partners carried Gorgon
 3     as proved reserves at that time?
 4          A.    I believe that prior to this
 5     I had already found out that Chevron
 6     were not carrying it, and I can't
 7     remember about Exxon Mobil.
 8          Q.    Did the fact that at least
 9     some of Shell's partners were not
10     carrying the Gorgon reserves as proved
11     affect your opinion about whether Shell
12     should carry those reserves as proved?
13          A.    I felt that this was
14     additional information that by -- for
15     next year's ARPR would be taken in
16     conjunction with the developments on
17     securing a market.
18          Q.    Would this additional
19     information weigh one way or the other
20     in terms of future bookings by Shell?
21          A.    It would weigh in the favor
22     of de-booking.
23          Q.    Did anyone ever tell you why
24     ExCom was taking an interest in this
25     subject?
0117
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2                MR. SMITH:  You mean other
 3     than in this -- what's reflected in
 4     this email chain?
 5          Q.    Other than what's reflected
 6     in this email.  Well let me put it
 7     another way.
 8                What was your understanding,
 9     if any, of ExCom's interest in this
10     subject?
11          A.    My understanding was that
12     the additional 20 percent that we
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13     booked as expectation but didn't book
14     as proved, they were wondering if our
15     partners had booked the additional 20
16     percent as proved.
17          Q.    Do you know what a reserves
18     replacement ratio is?
19          A.    Yes.
20          Q.    What is a reserve
21     replacement ratio?
22          A.    It is the -- as your
23     reserves are decreasing due to
24     production, it's the amount by which
25     your -- your incremental reserves are
0118
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     replacing production.
 3          Q.    Did you have any
 4     understanding at that time about what
 5     the group's reserves replacement ratios
 6     were?
 7          A.    It wasn't as high as it
 8     would -- we would have liked it to have
 9     been.
10          Q.    Do you know whether the
11     reserve replacement ratio for gas, the
12     group RRR for gas was more than 50
13     percent?
14          A.    I can't remember.
15                MR. SMITH:  As of the
16     beginning of 2000?
17                MR. MILLKEY:  Yes, as of the
18     beginning of 2000.
19          A.    I can't remember.
20          Q.    Had you heard that ExCom was
21     interested in booking that additional
22     20 percent in an effort to raise the
23     group's RRR?
24          A.    No.  I had only heard that
25     they were concerned that we were
0119
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     perhaps more conservative than our
 3     partners.
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 4                     (Graham Exhibit 10 for
 5     identification, Bates stamped PER
 6     00020076 through 20079.)
 7                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
 8     10 is a document Bates stamped PER
 9     00020076 through 20079.
10          Q.    I guess this is a memorandum
11     and not an email with an attachment.
12     It's from Jeroen Regtien, dated March
13     17th, 2000, to Wim Maarse with a cc to
14     Ms. Graham.  The subject is "ASR
15     reserves contribution final," and it
16     attaches the appraisal of 1999 strategy
17     review.  Do you recognize this
18     document?
19                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
20     form.
21                MR. MILLKEY:  What did I --
22     did I mischaracterize it?
23                MR. SMITH:  You just
24     misstated the title.  I think it's SSA
25     appraisal of 1999 and strategy review,
0120
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     not of strategy review.
 3          Q.    Have you seen this document
 4     before?
 5          A.    Yes.
 6          Q.    What is an ASR?
 7          A.    Annual strategy strategic,
 8     one or the other, review strategy.
 9          Q.    And what is an annual --
10     what is the ASR?  What occurs during
11     the ASR?
12          A.    Once a year senior advisors
13     from The Hague would come out to an
14     operating unit and we would do an
15     appraisal of the previous year and then
16     there would be a look forward to the
17     coming year.
18          Q.    Did you participate in the
19     ASR that occurred in 2000?
20          A.    Yes.
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21          Q.    Who from The Hague attended
22     the ASR?
23          A.    I can't remember everybody.
24     There would have been Paul den Reijer
25     and Rob Jager, but their line managers
0121
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     would also have been there.
 3          Q.    Was the ASR a one-day
 4     meeting?
 5          A.    No, it was usually a week's.
 6          Q.    A week.  What do you recall
 7     occurring during the ASR?
 8          A.    In respect of the reserves?
 9          Q.    Gorgon, particularly Gorgon
10     and reserves at Gorgon.
11          A.    I don't remember the
12     specifics of the meetings.  I know that
13     in -- because I was the economist for
14     Gorgon I sat in the asset discussions
15     on Gorgon.  So they would be discussing
16     the plans, the development plans for
17     Gorgon for the next year.  And for the
18     reserves part, I don't remember the
19     discussions.
20          Q.    The attachment to this
21     memorandum, did you draft any of it?
22          A.    I drafted it in conjunction
23     with Jeroen.
24          Q.    Turn to the next to last
25     page of the exhibit, 20078, the fourth
0122
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     paragraph down.  At the end of the
 3     paragraph it says "The situation will
 4     be reviewed against next year following
 5     the planned asset alignment with
 6     Woodside and possible advances of ALNG
 7     with marketing of Gorgon gas."  Can you
 8     tell me what is meant by planned asset
 9     alignment with Woodside?
10          A.    I can't remember what it
11     was, what that was all about.  I think

file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt (74 of 101)9/18/2007 3:53:31 PM

Case 3:04-cv-00374-JAP-JJH   Document 348-11   Filed 10/10/07   Page 74 of 150 PageID:

 22379



file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt

12     this was pre the takeover.
13          Q.    At some point was there a
14     decision to freeze Gorgon's proved
15     reserves bookings?
16          A.    No.
17                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
18     form.
19          A.    No.
20          Q.    No.  On the page before,
21     which is 20077, did you prepare the
22     diagram at the top of the page?
23          A.    I believe Jeroen prepared it
24     and then we had discussions as to how
25     we could simplify it because it was too
0123
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     busy.
 3          Q.    It still is.
 4          A.    It was worse.
 5                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 6     form.
 7          Q.    In the upper right in that
 8     diagram there's a rectangle that says
 9     "Reserves replacement ratio" and then
10     the numbers 22, 134 and 580.  What do
11     those numbers mean?
12          A.    No idea.
13          Q.    Were you at this juncture
14     having any conversations with Mr.
15     Regtien about the upcoming ARPR?
16          A.    I believe at this --
17          Q.    With regard -- with respect
18     to Gorgon?
19          A.    I believe it was around
20     about this time that Jeroen moved into
21     -- into SDA, and I was -- he then
22     became my line manager for ARPR
23     reporting.  And so I would have
24     discussed with him what had previously
25     happened and proposals for moving
0124
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     forward for what would happen at the
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 3     end of 2000.
 4          Q.    Do you recall what you and
 5     he discussed for proposals for the
 6     coming ARPR?
 7          A.    We were discussing that if
 8     the market didn't improve then it was
 9     our recommendation that Gorgon would be
10     de-booked at the end of this year.
11          Q.    At any time during your
12     tenure as reserves coordinator at SDA,
13     did the market improve for Gorgon gas?
14          A.    No.
15                     (Graham Exhibit 11 for
16     identification, Bates stamped PER
17     00020190 through 20192.)
18                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
19     number 11 is Bates range PER 00020190
20     through 20192.  It appears to be an
21     email from Mr. Regtien sent on
22     September 4th, 2000, to Ms. Graham and
23     others, with a cc to Anton Barendregt
24     and others.  The subject is "Final
25     agenda reserves audit 9-13 October"
0125
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     with an attachment entitled "Agenda SDA
 3     reserves audit 9-13 October 2000."
 4          Q.    Do you recognize this
 5     document?
 6          A.    Yes.
 7          Q.    What is it?
 8          A.    It is basically the agenda
 9     for Anton Barendregt's audit of the
10     ARPR.
11          Q.    How often did such audits
12     occur, if you know?
13          A.    I believe they were once
14     every four years.
15          Q.    This was a regularly
16     scheduled audit as opposed to a special
17     audit?
18          A.    It was a regularly -- it was
19     -- yes.
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20          Q.    Who was Mr. Barendregt?
21          A.    Mr. Barendregt was the
22     external auditor, reserves auditor.
23          Q.    Do you know who he was
24     employed by?
25          A.    He was employed -- you mean
0126
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     previous to his becoming an auditor, or
 3     --
 4          Q.    Do you know if he had a
 5     current employer as of this time?
 6          A.    No, I didn't know.
 7          Q.    Had you ever met Mr.
 8     Barendregt before this time?
 9          A.    Yes.
10          Q.    In what context did you meet
11     him?
12          A.    I worked in the same team as
13     him when I worked in The Hague.
14          Q.    When was that?
15          A.    1994 to about 1997.
16          Q.    What was the team?
17          A.    The team was Shell's
18     corporate petroleum engineering
19     division.
20          Q.    Did you work directly with
21     Mr. Barendregt as part of that team?
22          A.    He was the -- he was a
23     reservoir engineer in that team.  I was
24     a petrophysicist, but we never actually
25     worked on the same projects together.
0127
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Did SDA take any steps to
 3     prepare itself for the reserves audit
 4     conducted by Mr. Barendregt?
 5          A.    Yes, ensuring that all the
 6     correct documentation was available,
 7     ensuring that the correct people were
 8     available, and also to the extent of
 9     ensuring that the timing was such that
10     the correct people would be available.
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11          Q.    And by correct people who do
12     you mean?
13          A.    The reserves coordinator in
14     -- in Woodside and the asset managers
15     of the relevant assets.
16          Q.    Do you know if Mr. Aalbers
17     participated in the reserves audit?
18          A.    No, he didn't.
19          Q.    Turning to the agenda
20     itself, which begins on 20191, there's
21     a list of what appear to be
22     presentations that were to be made as
23     part of the audit.  I see you're listed
24     with Mr. Chittleborough and Mr. Regtien
25     on -- as giving presentations on
0128
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     October the 11th.  Did you in fact give
 3     a presentation?
 4          A.    I can't remember, but if
 5     it's listed here that I was going to
 6     then I would have.
 7          Q.    And it says "Chevron
 8     methodology."  Do you know what that
 9     refers to?
10          A.    Yes, it's basically the
11     mathematics that I undertook in
12     converting P 10 data to P 15 data.
13          Q.    I also see a little higher
14     up on that same page it refers to a
15     planned visit by Harry Roels?  Is that
16     how you pronounce his name?  Do you
17     know who he is?
18          A.    He was senior in Shell, and
19     he was a member of the CMD.  I'm not
20     sure if he was at that particular point
21     in time on the CMD or not.
22          Q.    Do you know whether he in
23     fact visited SDA?
24          A.    No.
25          Q.    Do you know whether he
0129
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
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 2     participated in the reserves audit?
 3          A.    No, he didn't.
 4          Q.    Do you have any recollection
 5     of specific meetings you attended
 6     during the audit?
 7          A.    No, I don't.
 8          Q.    Did you have any
 9     conversations with Mr. Barendregt about
10     the possibility of de-booking reserves,
11     proved reserves at Gorgon?
12          A.    Yes.
13          Q.    What do you recall about
14     those discussions?
15          A.    I recall that we were -- we
16     presented the, basically the current
17     commercial opportunities that were
18     available for Gorgon, the lack of a
19     signed contract in the next short -- in
20     the short term, as well as the
21     technical basis for the figure -- the
22     reserves figures for Gorgon.
23          Q.    Now when you say the
24     technical basis for the figure, are you
25     suggesting that there was a technical
0130
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     basis for de-booking Gorgon?
 3          A.    No.  I'm -- I'm saying that
 4     we would have discussed -- we discussed
 5     the complete overview of Gorgon, so
 6     what the technical reserves actually
 7     were, and then whether the reserves,
 8     the technical reserves would -- should
 9     be booked as proved or should be
10     de-booked to scope for recovery.
11          Q.    Did you express an opinion
12     to Mr. Barendregt about whether the
13     Gorgon approved reserves should be
14     de-booked?
15                MR. SMITH:  Objection to the
16     form; asked and answered.
17                THE WITNESS:  Pardon, I
18     didn't -- sorry, I didn't hear you.
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19                MR. SMITH:  You can go ahead
20     and answer the question.
21          A.    I can't remember the exact
22     conversations with Anton.  However, I'm
23     pretty sure that I would have expressed
24     a preference.
25          Q.    Do you recall what Mr.
0131
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Barendregt's response was?  Did he have
 3     a response?
 4          A.    I believe that Anton didn't
 5     give us a direct response at the time.
 6     However, there was a written -- a
 7     written writeup of his views of the
 8     audit.
 9          Q.    Did you have an expectation
10     of what Mr. Barendregt's conclusion
11     would be with respect to the Gorgon
12     reserves?
13                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
14     form.  Before she talked to him or
15     after she talked to him?
16                MR. MILLKEY:  Before she
17     talked to him.
18          Q.    Did you have -- did you have
19     an expectation about the outcome of the
20     audit with respect to the Gorgon proved
21     reserves?
22          A.    Before I talked to Anton I
23     assumed that he would concur with SDA's
24     recommendation with de-booking.
25          Q.    Do you have a recollection
0132
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     of what Mr. Barendregt's conclusion was
 3     in his report?
 4          A.    He recommended continuing
 5     with Gorgon as proved undeveloped
 6     reserves.
 7          Q.    Do you recall what the basis
 8     of -- the reason for that recommendation
 9     was?
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10          A.    Yes.  The difference in
11     opinion between us was on timing, that
12     in Anton's view the fact that Gorgon
13     would be developed in a later time
14     frame and would not impact on its
15     ability to be booked as proved
16     developed reserves.  There was no
17     disagreement about it being economic,
18     it was just a disagreement about
19     timing.
20          Q.    Was it his view -- did he
21     express the view to you that as long as
22     the gas could be marketed at some point
23     in the future that was sufficient to
24     justify booking?
25          A.    Yes.
0133
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2                     (Graham Exhibit 12 for
 3     identification, Bates stamped PER
 4     00170686 through 70696.)
 5                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
 6     12 is a note dated December 5th, 2000
 7     from Anton Barendregt to Lorin Brass
 8     and Alan Parsley with a number of
 9     copies.  The title is "SEC proved
10     reserves audit, Shell Development
11     Australia, 9 through 13 October 2000."
12     The Bates range is PER 00170686 through
13     70696.
14          Q.    Have you seen this document
15     before?
16          A.    Yes.
17          Q.    And what is it?
18          A.    It's the closeout audit
19     report.
20          Q.    In the paragraph maybe
21     two-thirds of the way down the page it
22     starts "The audit commended the high
23     quality."  A little further down it
24     says "Maintaining the preliminarily
25     booked volume of Gorgon gas reserves
0134
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 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     (first done at 1.1.1999) was supported
 3     on the ground that a gas market was
 4     highly likely to be established in due
 5     course and that it must be considered
 6     likely that an extension of the current
 7     five year retention lease will be
 8     granted in 2002."  He seems to indicate
 9     that the Gorgon reserves were first
10     booked as of 1/1/1999.  Do you believe
11     that to be a mistake?
12                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
13     form and lack of foundation.
14          A.    I believe it was booked
15     earlier.
16          Q.    On the following page at
17     point 3 about halfway down the first
18     paragraph it begins "An important
19     challenge."  Do you see that?
20          A.    No, sorry.
21          Q.    Oh, it's point 3, about
22     halfway down the paragraph, "An
23     important challenge."
24          A.    Oh, yes, yes.
25          Q.    "An important challenge is
0135
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     finding a buyer in a market that is
 3     fully supplied until 2005 and in which
 4     there is still significant competition
 5     thereafter.  In the long term, however,
 6     there can be little doubt that a market
 7     will be found for this gas in the East
 8     or South Asian rim.  Hence, the group
 9     reserves reporting guidelines do in
10     principle allow this gas to be reported
11     as reserves."
12                I guess this is really more
13     a question for Mr. Barendregt than for
14     you, but apparently Mr. Barendregt was
15     contemplating that, at a minimum, it
16     would be four years before there would
17     be a buyer for the gas since he said
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18     the market was fully booked until 2005.
19                In the next paragraph
20     there's a reference to a retention
21     lease.  Were you aware of that lease at
22     any point?
23          A.    Yes.
24          Q.    And he notes that there was
25     no formal right to an extension of the
0136
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     lease which was to expire in 2002.  Was
 3     the lack of a formal right to an
 4     extension a factor you considered in
 5     determining whether the proved reserves
 6     should continue to be booked in the
 7     previous ARPR that we discussed earlier
 8     today?
 9                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
10     form and lack of foundation.
11          Q.    Were you -- were you aware
12     of the lack of a formal right to an
13     extension of the lease during the
14     previous ARPR?
15          A.    Yes.
16          Q.    Was that -- did you consider
17     that to be a relevant factor in your
18     thinking?
19          A.    It was relevant, but with
20     reasonable certainty we knew that the
21     government would renew the license.
22                MR. MILLKEY:  He needs to
23     change the tape, so why don't we go off
24     the record.
25                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  This
0137
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     marks the end of tape number 2, volume
 3     1 in the video deposition of Sheila
 4     Graham.  Going off the record, the time
 5     is 14:51.
 6                (A recess was taken.)
 7                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Back on
 8     the record.  Here marks the beginning
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 9     of tape 3, volume 1 in the deposition
10     of Sheila Graham.  The time is 15:09.
11                     (Graham Exhibit 13 for
12     identification, Bates stamped PER
13     00020246 through 20248.)
14          Q.    Have you had an opportunity
15     to look at Graham Exhibit 13?
16          A.    Yes.
17                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
18     13 is an email string, Bates range PER
19     00020246 through 20248.
20          Q.    Do you recognize this email
21     string?
22          A.    Yes.
23          Q.    The earliest email in this
24     string appears to be from Remco Aalbers
25     dated September 16th, 2000, to you and
0138
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Wim Maarse with ccs to Mr. Jager, Mr.
 3     McKay, and Mr. Branson.  And he says,
 4     "Wim, Sheila, I picked up the following
 5     comments on Gorgon reserves versus SFR
 6     in your BP'00 dollar indications."  Do
 7     you know what BP'00 refers to?
 8          A.    2000 business plan.
 9          Q.    Below that he quotes what I
10     take to be a section from the BP -- the
11     2000 business plan.  That block
12     quotation at the bottom of the page, do
13     you know who wrote that?
14          A.    Wim sent it and I think I
15     wrote it.  It's not actually part of
16     the BP'00.  The Hague would send us
17     questions on points they wished
18     clarified on the BP 2000, on the
19     business plan, and this is our answer
20     to their question.
21          Q.    The first line of the
22     quotation, the question, it says "Q SFR
23     maturation zero?"  And then the first
24     sentence says "We are acutely aware of
25     our reserves replacement and SFR
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0139
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     maturation KPIs."  What does KPI stand
 3     for?
 4          A.    Key performance indicators.
 5          Q.    Why did you write that --
 6     well, does the we refer to SDA?
 7          A.    Yes.
 8          Q.    Why did you write that SDA
 9     was acutely aware of reserves
10     replacement and SFR maturation KPIs?
11          A.    I was being sarcastic in my
12     response back to them.
13          Q.    Why were you being
14     sarcastic?
15          A.    Because to mature scope for
16     recovery to reserves for oil
17     discoveries, you need money, and for
18     gas you need a market, and in the
19     capital allocation we got no money to
20     develop the oil reserves, therefore, it
21     was impossible to move from scope for
22     recovery to reserves.  And for gas
23     there was no gas market so we couldn't
24     move that either, and yet we were being
25     asked why we weren't moving our scope
0140
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     for recovery to reserves.  It was
 3     blindingly obvious why.
 4          Q.    In the quotation, in that
 5     block quotation there's the abbreviation
 6     CA.  What does that stand for?
 7          A.    Capital allocation.
 8          Q.    Did you have any
 9     understanding why Mr. Aalbers wrote
10     that "this is a very important and
11     sensitive point from both a principle
12     point as well as in light of the
13     group's proved reserves" -- "RRR
14     target"?
15          A.    Principle point, I don't
16     know what he was meaning.  The RRR
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17     target was that we would not be
18     contributing anything towards the RRR
19     target.
20          Q.    Do you know if there was a
21     specific target, like a target number
22     or a target percentage?
23          A.    I don't know.
24          Q.    Mr. Aalbers goes on to say
25     "The discussion should be with both Rob
0141
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     and myself, not with Anton Barendregt."
 3     Do you know why Mr. Aalbers didn't want
 4     you to have the conversation with Mr.
 5     Barendregt?
 6                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 7     form and lack of foundation.
 8          A.    No, I don't.
 9          Q.    On the previous page, which
10     is the first page of the exhibit,
11     towards the bottom of the page there's
12     an email from Mr. Regtien to you in
13     which he says "My view is that we come
14     to our own understanding first within
15     the current guidelines," and then he
16     suggests checking with Mr. Barendregt.
17     Did you have any conversations with Mr.
18     Regtien about whether Mr. Barendregt
19     should be consulted?
20          A.    Yes.
21          Q.    As part of this
22     conversation.  And what do you recall
23     about that conversation?
24          A.    We decided to ignore Remco
25     and we would just discuss with Anton.
0142
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    And he goes on to say "My
 3     proposal to treat the Gorgon reserves
 4     is based on the following," and he
 5     lists four bulleted points."  And then
 6     he says "I therefore recommend and am
 7     prepared to defend downgrading Gorgon
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 8     from the proved undeveloped reserves
 9     category to SFR (commercial/proved
10     techniques)."  Was it Mr. Regtien's
11     opinion at this juncture that the
12     Gorgon proved reserves should be
13     de-booked as proved?
14          A.    Yes.
15          Q.    At this time did you share
16     that opinion with him?
17          A.    Yes.
18          Q.    The next sentence says, "I
19     realize that this may carry some
20     sensitivity in SIEP, but it was
21     extensively discussed at the ASR and
22     SDA was actioned to develop a plan" and
23     I think it should say "to downgrade
24     Gorgon reserves, it says "the downgrade
25     Gorgon reserves."  What is SIEP?
0143
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    Shell International
 3     Exploration and Production, the center.
 4          Q.    When it says "SDA was
 5     actioned to develop a plan" what does
 6     that mean, actioned?  Did someone
 7     direct them to do that?
 8          A.    I don't remember being
 9     actioned to develop a plan.  I remember
10     the discussions centered around if the
11     -- if there were no commercial
12     developments then -- then the
13     discussions would have to be made to
14     de-book Gorgon.
15          Q.    At the top of the first page
16     of the exhibit there's an email to Mr.
17     Regtien from Mr. Blaauw dated September
18     19th of 2000.  Do you know whether Mr.
19     Blaauw at this time advocated de-booking
20     the Gorgon reserves as proved?
21          A.    I can't remember.
22          Q.    Do you remember if at any
23     later time he formed an opinion one way
24     or the other?

file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt (87 of 101)9/18/2007 3:53:31 PM

Case 3:04-cv-00374-JAP-JJH   Document 348-11   Filed 10/10/07   Page 87 of 150 PageID:

 22392



file:///C|/Documents%20and%20Settings/daustin/Desktop/Deposition%20Transcripts/011107sgraham.txt

25          A.    No.
0144
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2                     (Graham Exhibit 14 for
 3     identification, Bates stamped PER
 4     00020250 through 20251.)
 5                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
 6     14 is numbered PER 00020250 through
 7     20251.  It's another email string.  The
 8     most recent email in the string is from
 9     Remco Aalbers dated September 21st, 2000
10     to Ms. Graham, with ccs to Mr. Jager, Mr.
11     Regtien and Mr. Chittleborough.  The
12     subject line is "Gorgon reserves versus
13     SFR."
14          Q.    Ms. Graham, do you recall
15     receiving this email?
16          A.    Yes.
17          Q.    About five or six lines into
18     the email there's a sentence that
19     begins, "When Anton is down under."  Do
20     you see that?
21          A.    Sorry?
22          Q.    It's about maybe six lines
23     down.
24          A.    Yes.
25          Q.    And Mr. Aalbers rights,
0145
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     "When Anton is down under in October,
 3     SDA should justify why they had Gorgon
 4     proved reserves on the book 1.1.2000
 5     and that there is (still despite the
 6     set-back from the Asian crisis) a
 7     reasonable expectation of future market
 8     to justify those volumes.  Also they
 9     need to support the fact that no add
10     volumes were booked - despite WAPET
11     reevaluation."  Am I correct that when
12     he refers to Anton being down under in
13     October he's referring to the proved
14     reserves review we discussed a few
15     minutes ago?
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16                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
17     form.
18          Q.    Or the annual -- it wasn't
19     annual.  The audit that he conducted
20     that we discussed earlier?
21          A.    Yes.
22          Q.    When you read the language
23     that I just read, did you have any
24     reaction to it?
25          A.    Yes, I wasn't going to
0146
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     follow his recommendation, was not
 3     going to follow his recommendation.
 4          Q.    And why is that?
 5          A.    Because the reserves auditor
 6     -- the reserves auditor was an
 7     independent auditor and it shouldn't be
 8     dictated by the center what you can
 9     discuss with an independent auditor.
10          Q.    The next sentence he wrote
11     was "This is not the point to start
12     discussing on de-booking to SFR."  Did
13     you have any reaction when you read
14     that?
15          A.    I didn't agree with that.
16          Q.    Did you have a sense in
17     reading this email that Mr. Aalbers was
18     telling you what to do?
19          A.    Yes.
20          Q.    A little further down he
21     writes, "Any discussion on this issue
22     should be treated very carefully.  It
23     would have a very negative impact on
24     the group's reserve replacement ratio."
25     Did you ever have the suspicion that
0147
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Mr. Aalbers was receiving pressure from
 3     someone else regarding the company's
 4     RRR?
 5                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 6     form, lack of foundation.
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 7          A.    I didn't know anything about
 8     why he wrote this email.
 9          Q.    Did you feel any resentment
10     when you read this email?
11                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
12     form.
13          A.    No, I didn't feel
14     resentment.  I just felt that Jeroen
15     and I would proceed with the audit how
16     we wanted to.
17          Q.    Were you still the reserves
18     coordinator when the January 1, 2001
19     ARPR was submitted for SDA?
20          A.    No.
21          Q.    Who was at that point?
22          A.    Sarah Bell.
23          Q.    Did you participate in any
24     of the discussions leading up to that
25     ARPR about whether the proved Gorgon
0148
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     reserves should be de-booked?
 3                MR. SMITH:  Sorry, can we
 4     just be clear here about the date
 5     you're asking about.
 6                MR. MILLKEY:  I'm talking
 7     about the following ARPR --
 8                MR. SMITH:  January 1, 2001
 9     or January 1, 2002?
10                MR. MILLKEY:  2001.
11                MR. SMITH:  So four months
12     after Exhibit 14?
13                MR. MILLKEY:  Right.
14          A.    Okay.  So yes, I was -- yes,
15     I was the reserves auditor at that
16     stage.
17          Q.    Okay.  Do you recall whether
18     as of that ARPR -- strike that.
19                Do you recall whether in
20     that ARPR there was a recommendation to
21     de-book any Gorgon reserves?
22          A.    No.  Once we got Anton
23     Barendregt's audit closeout report that
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24     we've reviewed in this deposition,
25     there was no further discussion.
0149
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          Q.    Because?
 3          A.    Because it was felt that
 4     Anton was a technical, technical
 5     authority and that his views carried a
 6     lot of weight within SDA.
 7          Q.    Did your own personal view
 8     change as to whether the reserve should
 9     be de-booked?
10          A.    No.
11          Q.    So it was a matter of
12     deferring to the independent auditor?
13          A.    Yes.
14                     (Graham Exhibit 15 for
15     identification, Bates stamped PER
16     00020559 to 20560.)
17                MR. MILLKEY:  Graham Exhibit
18     15 is an email string, it's a two-page
19     document, PER 00020559 to 20560.  The
20     more recent email in the string is from
21     Christiaan Stouthamer dated June 5th,
22     2001, to Ms. Graham and to Mr. Regtien.
23     The subject says "Reserves in CA
24     submission - urgent."
25          Q.    Did I pronounce his name
0150
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     correctly, is it Stouthamer?
 3          A.    Yes.
 4          Q.    And who is he?
 5          A.    He replaced Wim Maarse.
 6          Q.    He says "More stuff from Mr.
 7     Yaxley" and the word Mr. is capitalized.
 8     Did you understand there to be any
 9     significance to that?
10          A.    No, just a typo.
11          Q.    Now I believe you testified
12     earlier that Mr. Yaxley preceded Mr.
13     Hammer as reserves coordinator for SDA;
14     is that correct?
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15          A.    I think I testified that it
16     was my belief that Leigh was before
17     him.
18          Q.    I'm sorry.  What was Mr.
19     Yaxley's position at this time?
20          A.    He took over from Remco
21     Aalbers I believe.
22          Q.    So he was the group reserves
23     coordinator?
24          A.    Yes.
25          Q.    I can't remember if I asked
0151
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     this before and if I did I apologize.
 3     Do you know whether Mr. Yaxley had any
 4     involvement in the initial booking of
 5     Gorgon?
 6                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 7     form.  Booking as what?
 8                MR. MILLKEY:  Pardon me?
 9                MR. SMITH:  Booking as what?
10                MR. MILLKEY:  As proved, I'm
11     sorry.
12          Q.    The answer was -- I'm sorry.
13          A.    I don't know.  I believe
14     that Leigh had something to do with the
15     booking of Gorgon reserves, but I don't
16     believe it was proved reserves.
17          Q.    In Mr. Yaxley's email to Mr.
18     Stouthamer on that same page he says he
19     will address the resource volume
20     reconciliation.  Do you understand what
21     that means?  It's at the bottom of that
22     first page.
23          A.    Yes.  The -- sum of all the
24     reserves in the sheets, the sum of the
25     expectation reserves in the sheets
0152
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     needs to match the ARPR expectation
 3     reserves submission.
 4          Q.    And the second bulleted
 5     point of Mr. Yaxley's email, which is
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 6     on the next page begins with the words
 7     "Another reason for misalignment."  Do
 8     you see that?
 9          A.    Yes.
10          Q.    "Another reason for
11     misalignment might be that the reserves
12     in the submission sheet are risked."
13     Did you understand what he meant by
14     that?
15          A.    He being?
16          Q.    Mr. Yaxley?
17          A.    Mr. Yaxley didn't actually
18     make that comment.  To actually
19     understand this email you actually have
20     to see it in color because Leigh has
21     actually inserted his comments at the
22     back of Chris's initial response.  So
23     it's actually a very difficult email to
24     interpret.
25          Q.    I understand.
0153
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2          A.    So it's Chris Stouthamer's
 3     comment that another reason for
 4     misalignment might be that the reserves
 5     in the submission sheets are risked.
 6          Q.    Do you know whether at some
 7     point in that bulleted point Mr. Yaxley
 8     comments upon Mr. Stouthamer's words?
 9          A.    Yes.  Chris is -- I'm sorry,
10     Leigh -- I've forgotten his name --
11     Leigh Yaxley's comments are "If you're
12     carrying a POS to FID of 54 percent for
13     Gorgon then the project is commercially
14     immature and you should not have the
15     volumes on the books as proved
16     undeveloped reserves."
17          Q.    Now, where did that 54
18     percent number come from?
19          A.    For the capital allocation
20     project -- for the capital allocation
21     process you choose one of your
22     development scenarios to submit for
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23     capital allocation.  So, for example,
24     Gorgon would have had three, would have
25     been carrying three scenarios for
0154
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Gorgon and the sum of these three
 3     scenarios would have added up to a
 4     hundred percent.  One of these
 5     scenarios was the scenario that was
 6     submitted and the POS it had been
 7     carrying was 54 percent.
 8          Q.    POS is possibility of
 9     success?
10          A.    That's right.
11          Q.    Probability of success?
12          A.    Yes.
13          Q.    And then following the words
14     that you just read there's bracketed
15     italicized words that say "I suspect
16     you may have heard this or similar
17     remarks from my predecessor and the
18     issue of Gorgon proved undeveloped
19     reserves is something we will need to
20     address during the next ARPR."  When he
21     refers to his predecessor is he
22     referring to Mr. Aalbers?
23          A.    Yes.
24          Q.    What was your reaction when
25     you read the language that you read and
0155
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     that I just read?
 3                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
 4     form.
 5          Q.    You can answer.
 6                MR. SMITH:  And lack of
 7     foundation.
 8          A.    Sorry, repeat, could you
 9     please repeat the question.
10          Q.    Did you have any reaction to
11     those words when you read them?
12          A.    My reaction was that -- that
13     Leigh can't have had a comprehensive
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14     handover from Remco.
15          Q.    Did you understand this to
16     be inconsistent with the messages you
17     had received from Mr. Aalbers about
18     proved reserves at Gorgon?
19          A.    Yes.
20          Q.    Did you ever have an
21     occasion to speak with Mr. Yaxley about
22     this?
23          A.    I don't remember.
24          Q.    At some point did Shell make
25     an effort to acquire an interest in
0156
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     Woodside?
 3          A.    Yes.
 4          Q.    Do you recall when that was?
 5          A.    Not the exact timing of it.
 6          Q.    Do you know whether the
 7     booking of Gorgon as proved had any
 8     bearing on that attempt by Shell?
 9          A.    No, no bearing.
10          Q.    Did at some point Shell
11     actually de-book the Gorgon reserves?
12          A.    Yes.
13          Q.    When did that occur?
14          A.    The beginning of 2004.
15          Q.    Was that part of the larger
16     recategorization that Shell announced
17     in January of 2004?
18          A.    I'm not privy to the
19     details.
20          Q.    Did you have any reaction
21     when you learned that Shell was
22     de-booking the Gorgon reserves, proved
23     reserves?
24          A.    My reaction was that -- that
25     somebody in the center must have
0157
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     eventually concurred with the ideas in
 3     SDA at the time.
 4          Q.    At any time in 2004 did you
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 5     become aware of public statements that
 6     representatives of Shell made about the
 7     Gorgon booking of proved reserves?
 8          A.    Yes.
 9          Q.    What do you recall?
10          A.    I recall that it was
11     indicated that it was Shell Australia
12     decision only on reserves.
13          Q.    Did you believe that to be
14     an accurate statement?
15                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
16     form and lack of foundation.
17          A.    I didn't know the time frame
18     that they were referring to in the
19     statement that they made.
20          Q.    Do you recall who made the
21     statement you're thinking of?
22          A.    No.
23          Q.    And you mentioned the time
24     frame.  Why was that relevant?
25          A.    Because all I can remember
0158
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2     from the reports is that the comment
 3     was that it was SDA management
 4     decision, but that could have been SDA
 5     management decision after I had left
 6     SDA.
 7          Q.    I'm probably being dense,
 8     but I don't -- could you explain that
 9     again.  I don't fully understand what
10     you mean.
11                MR. SMITH:  Objection to
12     form; asked and answered.
13          Q.    I still don't -- I'm sorry,
14     I just don't understand the timing
15     point.
16          A.    The timing point was that
17     there could have been the -- the
18     reports that I read could have been
19     indicating that it was SDA's decisions
20     in the time frame 2002 to 2004.
21          Q.    I see.
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22          A.    And I obviously wasn't in
23     SDA in 2002 to 2004.
24                MR. MILLKEY:  Why don't we
25     take a break.
0159
 1                SHEILA M. GRAHAM
 2                MR. SMITH:  Sure.
 3                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Going
 4     off the record, the time is 15:47.
 5                (A recess was taken.)
 6                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Going
 7     back on the record, the time is 15:53.
 8                MR. MILLKEY:  Ms. Graham, I
 9     have no further questions.
10                MR. SMITH:  We don't have
11     anything.
12                MR. MILLKEY:  Thank you very
13     much.
14   
15   
16   
17                (Continued on following page.)
18   
19   
20   
21   
22   
23   
24   
25   
0160
 1                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
 2                THE VIDEO OPERATOR:  Here
 3     marks the end of videotape number 3,
 4     volume 1 in the video deposition of
 5     Sheila Graham.  Going off the record,
 6     the time is 15:54.
 7                (Time noted:  3:54 p.m.)
 8   
 9   
10                   _______________________
11                     SHEILA M. GRAHAM
12   
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13                
14   Subscribed and sworn to before me
15   this _____ day of _________, 2007.
16   
17   __________________________________
18           Notary Public
19   
20   
21   
22   
23   
24   
25   
0161
 1   
 2   STATE OF NEW YORK     )     Pg__of__Pgs
 3                         ss:
 4   COUNTY OF NEW YORK    )
 5        I wish to make the following changes,
 6   for the following reasons:
 7   PAGE LINE
 8   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
 9              REASON: _______________________
10   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
11              REASON: _______________________
12   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
13              REASON: _______________________
14   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
15              REASON: _______________________
16   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
17              REASON: _______________________
18   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
19              REASON: _______________________
20   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
21              REASON: _______________________
22   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
23              REASON: _______________________
24   ____ ____  CHANGE: _______________________
25              REASON: _____________________
0162
 1             C E R T I F I C A T E
 2   STATE OF NEW YORK   )
 3                         : ss.
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 4   COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
 5              I, GAIL F. SCHORR, a Certified
 6   Shorthand Reporter, Certified Realtime
 7   Reporter and Notary Public within and for
 8   the State of New York, do hereby certify:
 9              That SHEILA M. GRAHAM, the
10   witness whose deposition is hereinbefore set
11   forth, was duly sworn by me and that such
12   deposition is a true record of the testimony
13   given by the witness.
14              I further certify that I am not
15   related to any of the parties to this action
16   by blood or marriage, and that I am in no
17   way interested in the outcome of this
18   matter.
19              IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have
20   hereunto set my hand this ____ day of
21   ___________, 2007.
22   
23   
24              __________________________
25             GAIL F. SCHORR, C.S.R., C.R.R.
0163
 1                 E X H I B I T S
 2   
 3     DESCRIPTION                     PAGE     LINE
 4    (Graham Exhibit 1 for             29      18
 5    identification, Bates
 6    stamped RJW 00121875 through
 7    RJW 00121906.)
 8    (Graham Exhibit 2 for             49      19
 9    identification, Bates
10    stamped V 00100166 and AU
11    000166.)
12    (Graham Exhibit 3 for             60       4
13    identification, Bates
14    stamped PER 00072308 through
15    PER 00072310.)
16    (Graham Exhibit 4 for             61       8
17    identification, Bates
18    stamped PER 00012719 through
19    12720.)
20    (Graham Exhibit 5 for             65      13
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21    identification, Bates
22    stamped PER 00012729 through
23    12736.)
24   
25   
0164
 1    (Graham Exhibit 6 for             71       2
 2    identification, Bates
 3    stamped GC 00008108 through
 4    8131.)
 5    (Graham Exhibit 7 for             76       5
 6    identification, Bates
 7    stamped PER 00012745 through
 8    12747.)
 9    (Graham Exhibit 8 for            100      13
10    identification, Bates
11    stamped GC 00008167 through
12    8169.)
13    (Graham Exhibit 9 for            113      11
14    identification, Bates
15    stamped V 00100190 through V
16    00100193 and AU 000192
17    through 195.)
18    (Graham Exhibit 10 for           119       4
19    identification, Bates
20    stamped PER 00020076 through
21    20079.)
22    (Graham Exhibit 11 for           124      15
23    identification, Bates
24    stamped PER 00020190 through
25    20192.)
0165
 1    (Graham Exhibit 12 for           133       2
 2    identification, Bates
 3    stamped PER 00170686 through
 4    70696.)
 5    (Graham Exhibit 13 for           137      11
 6    identification, Bates
 7    stamped PER 00020246 through
 8    20248.)
 9    (Graham Exhibit 14 for           144       2
10    identification, Bates
11    stamped PER 00020250 through
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12    20251.)
13    (Graham Exhibit 15 for           149      14
14    identification, Bates
15    stamped PER 00020559 to
16    20560.)
17   
18   
19   
20   
21   
22   
23   
24   
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